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Our Mission

WAFIC is the recognised peak 
body to protect, promote and 
support development of the 
commercial fishing industry.
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From the Chair

It’s often said that change is the only constant 
for business, and the seafood industry is 
certainly an example of this over recent years.

However, after the desperate year of changes in 2020, 
we are now finding things settling into what is 
generally being termed the ‘new normal’. And I’m 
pleased to confirm that WAFIC is making some 
headway in this challenging environment and has 
steered a well-planned, but cautious path through 
COVID-19 and the international trade and transport 
issues that followed.

While we are not yet on solid and safe ground, we are 
finding stable foundations to move forward. We are 
also hearing the calls of support from members as 
the WAFIC staff spend more time on the road with 
the fishers to listen and act upon your concerns.

One of the benefits of going through challenges 
together is that it often builds strong ties, and we are 
seeing the fruits of this with our relationship with key 
stakeholders, including the Department of Primary 
Industries and Regional Development and our 
Federal agencies. While we will always have areas 
of differences, we are finding a greater capacity to 
trust and work together towards mutually supportive 
outcomes in a way we have not had in the past. And 
this is a good thing.

The relationship we are building with the new 
Minister is also giving me confidence and this should 
further improve as his team embraces the issues 
impacting our industry.

Industry unity remains an ongoing issue, and 
while improving, there is still more work needed in 
uniting our members and sector bodies. Separation 
and division will only diminish our messages and 
strength, so WAFIC remains committed to spending 
more time out in the regions with our fishers 
listening to their issues and working to assist the 
development of effective solutions.

This unity and solidarity will be critical over the 
coming year as we position the industry to deal with 
major issues like diminishing demersal stocks, 
seismic testing, increasing levels of environmental 
pressure, fluctuating market demand and the 
government’s call for expanded marine parks.

In closing, I would like to recognise and thank the 
WAFIC Board and staff who have worked hard 
throughout the year to stabilise and re-focus the 
industry post-COVID. We are in a good position to 
make solid progress throughout the new financial 
year and I look forward to representing you all again 
as we move down that path.

Murray Criddle 
WAFIC Chairman
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Industry unity
remains an ongoing issue, 
and while improving, there 
is still more work needed 
in uniting our members 

and sector bodies.

Midwest still recovering 
from Cyclone Seroja
Following the cyclonic battering from Cyclone 
Seroja in April, WAFIC Chairman Murray 
Criddle was on the ground meeting with local 
fishers in the Geraldton and Kalbarri regions 
to determine the extent of damage and to help 
rally emergency support and repair crews.

Fortunately, much of the fishing industry 
avoided serious injuries or infrastructure 
damage, however many of its downstream 
industries were severely impacted and locals 
continue to wait for repairs months after 
the event.

Those businesses and farming communities 
further inland bore the brunt of the cyclone. 
It is expected the area won’t fully recover for 
more than 12 months.

Throughout the aftermath and clean up, 
WAFIC worked with emergency services and 
the Department of Primary Industries and 
Regional Development to share information 
on operational and financial support initiatives 
available and to help bring in reports from 
those affected.
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From the CEO

The fishing industry has certainly been through 
some interesting times over the past year, 
with the social effects of COVID touching on 
domestic activity and broader geopolitical 
developments impacting on export markets. 
Nevertheless, our industry has demonstrated 
strong resilience and adaptability throughout, 
with many exciting new opportunities having 
been identified and taken up. 

While new, diversified export marketing outcomes 
have been secured, it’s also great to see some 
domestic value-adding activities emerging from 
some of our smaller traditional fisheries. It’s a great 
credit to those who have invested in new activities 
and the benefits will certainly soon flow through to 
their coastal communities.

However, there is a never-ending series of 
challenges which continue to encroach on the 
commercial fishing industry and require WAFIC’s 
continual attention. These include exclusion areas in 
marine parks, growth in recreational fishing activity, 
Environmental Protection Authority approvals for 
developments impacting on the marine ecology, 
impacts of oil and gas exploratory seismic activity 
and the growing local influence of overseas 
environmental activists. These are accompanied by 
continual changes in the regulatory environment, 
particularly with marine safety at a national level 
and workplace health and safety locally. 

Nevertheless, despite the ongoing challenges and 
never-ending changes, operators within our industry 
have proven how adaptable they can be and continue 
to provide abundant quantities of the highest-quality 
seafood to our marketplace.

It is also exciting to see the industry further 
improve its social licence credentials with over 
90 percent of its fisheries meeting international 
Marine Stewardship Council (MSC) accreditations. 
In addition, it was a proud moment for all of us to 
see the Shark Bay and Exmouth prawn sectors 
being MSC recertified without conditions for 
ongoing operations within a World Heritage Area 
– living proof of the sustainability of our modern 
commercial fishing operations.

WAFIC has also taken its role as the industry 
advocate very seriously, with strong representations 
being made over core issues such as fair 
compensation for fishers displaced by marine 
parks, the need to have both the commercial and 
recreational sectors remain within the agreed 
thresholds for the sustainable recovery of the 
west coast demersal stocks, and trying to secure 
a win-win solution for the aquaculture zone 
boundaries in Albany, where we have worked to 
craft solutions which allow both aquaculture and 
commercial fishing to be jointly successful. 
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This all underpins the need for our 
industry to be working together closely, 
collaboratively and cohesively to present 
a united front to government and the 
general community. We are now entering 
a challenging phase and are continually 
reminded of the need to enhance our social 
licence and have a consolidated voice. 
It’s so critically important that all sectors 
work together for the common good and 
the community sees us acting with singular 
vision and purpose.

I wish to sincerely thank the WAFIC Chair, 
Murray Criddle, for his superb leadership 
and support, the WAFIC Board and especially 
the WAFIC staff who are deeply committed 
to the success of the WA fishing industry and 
make such a strong personal contribution to 
this cause every day.

Darryl Hockey 
WAFIC Chief Executive Officer

Commercial 
fisheries 

supporting WA’s 
economic growth 

and recovery.

“ It’s critically important that all sectors work together for the 
common good and the community sees us acting with singular 
vision and purpose.”

So WAFIC takes the role of growing and developing 
the industry on the one hand, while defending and 
protecting our interests on the other – matters which 
are of critical importance not only to the State’s food 
security, but also the health and longevity of coastal 
communities. We’re absolutely determined to make 
sure that we have our voice properly heard and the 
industry can receive the support it so richly deserves.

At a governance level, WAFIC has taken a strategic 
approach and embraced the challenges of industry 
structural reform to achieve greater operational 
effectiveness and cost efficiency. We are now 
more strongly positioned to absorb the ongoing 
impacts of declining GVP incomes. We have also 
continued to negotiate with government to secure a 
long-term funding agreement to support the future 
representation of our industry.

From a public profile perspective, the level of media 
engagement over the past year by WAFIC has been at 
its highest level ever, with numerous regular stories 
on television, radio and press – always promoting 
the credentials of our industry and ensuring we have 
a voice on the issues that matter to fishing families. 
We can already see a suite of further challenges 
on the horizon and recognise the need to maintain 
our respected public profile.

“ We’re absolutely determined 
to make sure that we have our 
voice properly heard and the 
industry can receive the support 
it so richly deserves.”
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Organisation structure
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Our Board

The WAFIC Board is made up of nine directors, including an independent chair. Board members are elected to their positions at the Annual General 
Meeting each year through a process of membership voting. All members of the current Board were re-elected at the 2019-20 Annual General Meeting.

Murray Criddle

WAFIC Chairman 
and former chair 
of the MidWest 
Regional Development 
Commission.

Adam Radford

WAFIC Vice-Chairman 
and Western Rock 
Lobster industry 
member. Adam is 
Chair of the Finance 
and Risk Management 
Committee.

Tony Westerberg

Third-generation 
fisherman and member 
of WAFIC’s Resource 
Access Sub-Committee.

Anthony Haygarth

Involved in the 
development of the WA 
octopus fishery and 
member of WAFIC’s 
Building Community 
Support (BCS) 
Sub-Committee.

Don Nicholls

Executive Officer of 
the Southern Seafood 
Producers (WA) Inc and 
a member of WAFIC’s 
Building Community 
Support (BCS) 
Sub-Committee.

Felicity Horn

Executive Officer of 
Shark Bay Prawn 
Trawler Operators’ 
Association. Felicity is a 
member of the Research 
Advisory Committee.

Gary Morgan

Internationally renowned 
fisheries researcher 
and development 
planner. Gary is Chair 
of the Research and 
Development Committee.

Wayne Scheggia

Business and regional 
development consultant. 
Wayne is a member of 
the Finance and Risk 
Management Committee.

Paul Catalano

Extensive experience in 
post-harvest processing, 
international markets, 
supermarket drivers and 
direct retail.
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Following last year’s $1.3 million financial 
assistance package which the WA Government 
provided to the fishing industry, WAFIC has 
been working with the industry and government 
to develop a recovery pathway for the State’s 
seafood industry.

As part of this planning and development, the WAFIC 
team has spent many weeks and many thousands of 
kilometres on the road to meet with our fisheries and 
the regional communities to identify what is required 
and how to manage and deliver future support.

And while there is still work to do, we are seeing 
signs of recovery for many of our fisheries.

The local market in Western Australia is proving 
resilient and growing on an upswell of consumer 
support for local seafood and local businesses. 
WAFIC supported this demand by attending a number 
of public events to promote local seafoods and 
particularly lesser-known or under-utilised species.

Our national markets to the east remain patchy due 
to the ongoing lockdowns, but continue to build in 
confidence, with recent months seeing a growth 
in sales in preparation for Christmas. Reduced air 
cargo capacity due to border restrictions continue to 
present challenges.

COVID-19 response and recovery strategy

We are seeing some recovery in international 
markets, including rock lobster sales into Hong Kong, 
although the limited number of international flights 
continues to present air freight challenges into many 
overseas markets.

In August, WAFIC also used the disrupted environment 
to trial a new ‘virtual business matching forum’ 
alongside its Austrade partners. The WA Seafood 
Showcase online business-matching event brought 
together more than 100 of Taiwan’s leading seafood 
importers with some of Western Australia’s leading 
seafood exporters. The event was a success and has 
laid foundations for other events as required. You can 
read more about this event on page 14.

After much lobbying, WAFIC has also welcomed news 
that the Federal Government is planning to support 
a new visa category to support regional fishing 
communities. 

The new agriculture visa is seen as a vital lifeline to 
help secure the future of rural and regional Australia 
as it will allow skilled, semi-skilled and unskilled 
workers to travel to Australia for work at a time when 
seafood businesses in regional communities remain 
desperate for reliable workers.

So, as we emerge from COVID disruptions, WAFIC is 
seeing fresh shoots of industry unity and a greater 
capacity for sectors to work together and share 
resources as we work towards a common goal 
of recovery.

“ The WAFIC team has spent 
many weeks and many 
thousands of kilometres on the 
road to meet with our fisheries 
and the regional communities 
to identify what is required 
and how to manage and deliver 
future support.”
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While the WA fishing industry continues to deal with 
the aftermath of COVID-19, it is beginning to gain 
traction and frame its direction in the new operating 
environment. 

One of the positives emerging from the COVID impacts 
has been a general increase in domestic demand 
and appreciation for local products, however this 
continues to fluctuate with the uncertainty of interstate 
lockdowns and available freight capacity and labour.

The border closures associated with COVID-19 led to 
increased domestic tourism in the regions, bringing 
with it increased recreational participation, effort 
and presumably catch. Regional communities were 
the first to voice concerns around the potential for 
localised depletion of fish stocks soon after initial 
intrastate lock downs ended. The WA Government 
responded by implementing a precautionary 
reduction in recreational trip limits for demersal 
scalefish as a tool to support sustainability of the fish 
stocks. However, these measures were not based on 
detailed modelling and will require future analysis to 
determine its effectiveness in reducing overall take 
of demersal scalefish and the potential knock-on 
implications for pelagic stocks.

It is important to recognise the precautionary trip 
limit reduction was introduced to address COVID-
related increases in recreational effort and is 
unrelated to the additional management measures 
that are still urgently required on the West Coast. 

The recreational sector needs to reduce catches to 
fall within the agreed thresholds for the sustainable 
recovery of the west coast demersal scalefish 
(WCDS) stocks. The fishery is currently halfway 
through a 20-year recovery plan and there are 
concerns the constantly increasing recreational 
catches will push out the recovery timeline.

Last year we heralded the first step towards the 
much-anticipated beginning of the formal harvest 
strategy for the WCDS resource. However, the 
harvest strategy took all year to complete and the 
industry is now holding its breath for an updated 
stock assessment before the recreational sector will 
even consider options to address overfishing.

Both the increase in COVID-related effort and the 
inaction on WCDS demonstrate the need for accurate 
and timely reporting of recreational catch. WAFIC 
has been strongly advocating for accurate real-time 
measurements for the recreational sector and we 
are encouraged that this finally seems to be on 
the agenda. Improved confidence in recreational 
estimates is fundamental to the success of 
Integrated Fisheries Management and will be key 
to management under the new Aquatic Resources 
Management Act (ARMA).

The year ahead will see considerable DPIRD 
resources taken up with the implementation of the 
new Act, and we are hopeful this will not come at the 
cost of other core deliverables, including finalising 

the outstanding compensation for fishers who have 
been displaced by new marine parks.

Licence holders across a range of fisheries including 
Abalone, temperate shark and the WCDS fishery have 
been increasingly frustrated by ongoing delays and 
uncertainties around the compensation processes 
for fishers impacted by Ngari-Capes State Marine 
Park. Fortunately, the WA Government has recognised 
the shortcomings of the current process and is now 
working with WAFIC to establish a new model for 
future compensation claims. WAFIC is also actively 
working with government to provide a more engaged 
and open discussion in relation to consultation 
around the proposed South Coast Marine Park and 
ensuring the interests of the commercial fishing 
and aquaculture sectors are considered in planning 
negotiations from the beginning.

As always, WAFIC continues to advocate for the 
fishing industry across a broad range of other issues 
impacting resource access, fishing operations and the 
broader marine environment our fisheries depend on. 
This year we have ensured industry have had a voice in 
relation to seismic surveys, decommissioning of oil and 
gas infrastructure, shark depredation, new port and 
jetty developments, new dredging proposals, as well as 
wind farm and salt production projects, to name a few.

Dr Matt Pember  
Resource Access Officer

Resource Access

11ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21 | WAFIC



Sharing stories on the innovations, successes and emerging issues facing the commercial seafood 
industry is an important way to build and enhance community engagement and social licence 
through improved understanding of the industry.

Stakeholder engagement, media relations  
and building social licence
Over the past year, WAFIC has worked closely with 
its stakeholders and media to put a spotlight on key 
issues and challenges.

Throughout the period, WAFIC continued to be 
engaged in major issues, including COVID-19 
industry support, the establishment of new 
aquaculture zones, private property rights and 
proposed amendments to workplace safety and 
industrial manslaughter legislation.

Supporting a flexible and experienced industry 
workforce has also been a challenge throughout 
these times, with domestic and international border 
closures limiting the industry’s ability to attract and 
retain staff.

While WAFIC is not always the lead stakeholder 
in these issues it continues to play a consultative 
role and provides communications expertise for 
sharing information and supporting stakeholder 
engagement.

By doing this, WAFIC continues to position the 
seafood industry as a valuable economic pillar for 
the State and highlight the industry’s status as a 
major regional development catalyst and employer.

The success of our work in this area has 
allowed the industry to focus on further industry 
development sales pipelines and the diversification 
of export markets.

Industry Communications and 
Stakeholder Engagement

Real-time recreational 
monitoring
The challenges presented to demersal 
fishing stocks during COVID-19 border 
closures highlighted the need for real-
time monitoring and reporting by the 
recreational fishers for three key indicator 
demersal species – dhufish, snapper and 
baldchin groper.

While the technology is available in an early 
draft form, there is a reluctance within the 
recreational fisheries management to adopt 
this style of reporting.

“WAFIC continues to position the 
seafood industry as a valuable 
economic pillar for the State…”

Call for  
real-time monitoring

for recreational  
demersal fisheries.

12ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21 | WAFIC



Sharing our 
messages

WAFIC utilises a number of channels to share messages with its audiences in order to build a greater understanding of the social,  
economic and lifestyle benefits of the seafood industry and the issues it faces.

Industry communications
Our members, licence holders and industry partners 
are at the heart of all we do. They are why we exist. 
So, industry communications is always a priority for 
WAFIC and includes emails, News Flashes, social 
media activity and a monthly newsletter to more than 
2400 subscribers.

This year we also introduced an audio podcast where 
the Chief Executive Officer discusses topical issues 
impacting the industry and talks with members and 
locals while out in the regional centres.

Media and social media
WAFIC works closely with media to develop 
stories and share information on important topics. 
By collaborating with media, WAFIC is able to provide 
an independent, third-party voice on key issues as 
well as help the broader community understand the 
importance of the seafood industry.

Community engagement
Events and shows are great forums to build community 
understanding of the seafood industry’s role and 
its desire for healthy sustainable oceans, which are 
critical to the long-term success of the industry. 

WAFIC attends relevant community events, regional 
festivals and shows to promote the importance of 

buying local seafood, as well as showcasing some of 
WA’s lesser-known seafood varieties.

Meetings and workshops
Over the past year COVID has required a greater 
reliance on video-conferencing and virtual meetings, 
however our preference remains for face-to-face 
engagement where we can. The fisheries industry is 
still ‘old-school’ like that, and a handshake is part of 
our heritage and DNA.

In addition to regular fisheries management 
meetings, the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and 
other senior staff undertake a program of regional 
briefings, which are known as ‘listen and act tours.’ 
These events allow us to meet with members 
on their home-turf and hear first-hand what is 
important. We are then able to develop a plan, so we 
can work together on agreed actions.

These meetings are valuable tools for the 
development of our industry and are integral 
to many of our success stories.

Industry alliances
WAFIC is heavily committed to its network partners 
across other industry sectors, including agriculture, 
regional development, marine science, transport and 
industrial relations.

By working closely with these related organisations 
WAFIC is able to leverage on our combined strengths 
and interdependencies to develop strategic solutions 
that benefit a wide range of stakeholders.

Government and regulatory authorities
Having a close and effective working relationship 
with Federal and State Government departments 
is critical to WAFIC’s success. Our staff regularly 
engage with their government counterparts and 
other regulatory agencies through teleconferences, 
meetings and virtual meetings to ensure WAFIC has 
access to a high level of accurate information and its 
position on issues is well understood.

These relationships underpin many of our 
major initiatives, research projects and 
communications ventures.

Non-Government Organisations (NGOs)
As a not-for-profit organisation, WAFIC maintains 
effective relationships with other NGOs to ensure 
we are working collaboratively towards common 
outcomes and can leverage allied programs and 
funding opportunities. 

WAFIC retains strong relationships with key bodies 
including the Fisheries Research and Development 
Corporation, Seafood Industry Australia as well as its 
interstate counterparts.
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Building Community Support

To help the broader community understand the fishing industry’s role and how it supports the 
environment and employment, it’s important that we actively share our messages and stories. 
By doing this, locals can better understand the industry as well as its benefits, challenges 
and its role as an economic driver and employer – particularly within the State’s regional 
coastal communities.

To achieve this, WAFIC delivers a range of activities 
including media stories and social media posts 
showcasing the lifestyle and role of commercial 
fisheries. We also participate in community forums 
and regional events where we can talk with locals 
and explain how to make the most out of their 
seafood, while showcasing some of the lesser-known 
species that are great value and delicious. Where 
possible, we combine these events with cooking 
demonstrations using high profile local chefs.

Environment management is also a key message, 
and one that is often misunderstood. Commercial 
fishers rely on healthy oceans and sustainable 
fishing stocks for their longevity. Without healthy 
oceans, the industry cannot survive. So, while many 
environmental groups like to paint the commercial 
fishing industry as being destructive and pillaging, 
nothing could be further from the truth. No one has a 
more vested interest in sustainable oceans than the 
commercial fishing industry, and so we take a lot of 
time talking about this to local communities.

WA casts online net to catch 
new Asian markets
When issues emerged with Chinese international 
trade relationships, WAFIC worked with 
Austrade Taiwan and its WA seafood export 
partners to showcase the State’s premium 
seafoods to Asian markets using a new online 
business-matching format.

The WA Seafood Showcase online 
business-matching event brought together more 
than 100 of Taiwan’s leading seafood importers 
to virtually-meet with Western Australia’s 
leading seafood exporters through an online 
video-conferencing platform.

The event provided an overview of WA’s premium 
seafood offerings before delegates broke off into 
one-on-one business matching sessions with 
buyers and sellers.

Sales were focused on high quality premium 
products from Western Australia, including 
Saucer Scallops, Greenlip, Brownlip and Roei 
Abalone, Western Rock Lobster and Southern Rock 
Lobster, ocean-caught Tiger, King and Banana 
prawns, deep sea crab varieties, Mantis Shrimp 
and Scampi.

“No one has a more vested interest 
in sustainable oceans than the 
commercial fishing industry…”
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Sharing the love of seafood
WAFIC has supported a number of key seafood 
events throughout the year as a way to promote 
the value of WA’s seafood industry to the broader 
community and highlight the variety of local seafoods 
– particularly some of the lesser-known species that 
are becoming more popular. 

Celebrity chefs play an important role in helping 
people make the most of their seafood and learn 

about lesser-known species.

Right: Rock lobster fishermen 
showcase the generations-old skills 

of making lobster pots from cane.

Sharing the seafood love at important events.

New small-load sea freight 
option launched for WA
With air freight access at a costly premium during 
the height of COVID, WAFIC worked with Perth-based 
freight forwarding company, Tigers International 
Solutions and other stakeholders to launch a 
new sea freight program to help smaller primary 
industries businesses get their products into 
lucrative international markets.

Known as ‘Less than a Container Load’, or LCL, 
the new freight option provides a platform for 
smaller producers to bundle their products together 
in order to fill containers, which allows them to 
benefit from lower costs.

The refrigerated container transit has departures 
from Fremantle every Friday, arriving into Singapore 
the following Thursday.

Pictured (LtoR) at the launch event are: 
Liam O’Connell, DPIRD; Jason Radford, Tigers; 
Jane Caforio, Austrade; Jim Trandos, Trandos Farms; 
David Wilkins, Tigers; Mannie Shea, WAFIC; Sean 
Mulhall, Fremantle Ports and Terry Burnage, DPIRD.
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WAFIC calls for State of Origin labelling
Earlier in the year, WAFIC sent out a call for stronger 
labelling laws for seafood being used in the food 
service sector. 

The issue was widely picked up by WA media and 
had strong support from the public who want to 
have confidence that the food they are buying in 
restaurants is correctly labelled.

While Country of Origin labelling is mandatory 
in packaged retail seafood, WAFIC is keen to see 
improvements in labelling for cooked seafoods – 
including those served in restaurants.

All seafood sold in the retail stores must be 
labelled to identify its Country of Origin. However as 
soon as the food is cooked and sold those laws 
disappear, making it difficult for consumers to 
distinguish between sustainable Australian seafood 
and non-sustainable seafood imported from 
other markets.

This is an ongoing issue that is also being pursued 
at a national level.

WAFIC in the News
WAFIC has been working closely with a number of 
media outlets to share stories about the successes 
and challenges impacting WA’s seafood industry.

The strategy has seen dozens of important stories 
produced and broadcast on WA seafood across the 
state, as well as nationally on Landline and other 
ABC platforms.

The stories are a great way to share information 
on what is happening in WA’s commercial fishing 
industry and to help the public understand the role 
and challenges facing the sector.

The value of the stories has been independently 
valued at more than $5 million over the year, 
but more importantly it has allowed WA locals 
to engage in our industry and participate in 
public discussions.
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WA prawns re-certified as global gold standard
Western Australia’s reputation for producing the 
world’s best seafood was highlighted in December 
when the Exmouth Gulf and Shark Bay Prawn 
Fisheries again achieved the highest possible global 
standard for sustainability after being re-certified 
to Marine Stewardship Council (MSC) Standards.

Both fisheries were first certified under the 
MSC Standard in 2015 and both have now been 
re-certified under the more rigorous MSC Version 
2.01 standards, which were introduced in 2018.

More than 90 percent of seafood from WA’s 
commercial fisheries is MSC certified, with the most 
recent certification positioning the Shark Bay and 
Exmouth Gulf prawn fisheries as a premium and 
highly valued product.

There are currently 10 MSC certified fisheries 
off Western Australia’s coast, with a further 
two operating in Commonwealth waters off the 
south coast. Two more are in the final stages of 
their certification process.

Pictured left to right at the announcement are: Geoff Diver, Sea Harvest; 
George Kailis, MG Kailis; former Fisheries Minister Peter Tinley; and 

Felicity Horn, Shark Bay Prawn Trawler Operators Association.

WAFIC calls for action on West 
Coast demersal fish stocks
A 100 percent increase in recreational boat sales 
and a 50 percent increase in monitored boat 
ramp traffic over the past 18 months has put 
the spotlight on the sustainability of Western 
Australia’s prized demersal fish stocks.

The impacts are being seen most heavily among 
the slow-growing, deep sea trophy species like 
snapper, Baldchin groper and dhufish off the WA 
metropolitan reefs and throughout the MidWest 
and Gascoyne region.

The issue has been emerging for a number of years 
but has recently accelerated due to the increased 
recreational fishing efforts during border closures 
which is driving increased intrastate travel.

The spike in recreational fishing and charter fishing 
operations has also highlighted the need for real-
time monitoring of recreational fishing catch and 
effort, as the current voluntary reporting method 
using multi-year averages has been left exposed.

This is not a new issue and in 2010, due to serious 
concerns over sustainability, a 20-year Recovery 
Strategy was put in place. Since this strategy was 
established, the average of commercial sector 
catches has remained under the agreed harvest 
limit, however recreational fishers continue to 
exceed their allocation every year, with snapper 
being caught at approximately double the 
sustainable limit.

A new demersal Stock Assessment is due shortly 
and it is hoped the actions will include real time 
monitoring of demersal catches.
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WA Seafood Industry Awards 2021 showcases industry excellence
A record crowd of almost 450 seafood industry members and stakeholders attended what was the largest WA seafood industry awards event to date.

The gala event was held at The Esplanade Hotel 
in Fremantle on 13 August and opened by Minister 
for Fisheries the Hon Don Punch MLA, alongside 
WAFIC Chairman Murray Criddle and Chief Executive 
Officer, Darryl Hockey.

The awards were made more significant by the 
challenges facing the seafood industry such as the 
insecurity of resource access, international trade and 
transport issues, COVID restrictions, border closures 
and the constant pressures of red tape and the 
inconsistent approaches to stakeholder consultation. 

The event was a huge success with attendees 
enjoying a feast of fresh, local and sustainably caught 
Australian seafood prepared by ten of WA’s best 
celebrity chefs.

Winners of 11 of the award categories receive 
automatic entry into the Australian Seafood Industry 
Awards, which will be held in conjunction with the 
2022 Seafood Directions Conference. 

The Deckhand Award is a WA-only accredited award 
which has been established to recognise and reward 
the contributions and achievements of those at the 
coal-face of our industry. 

Award Winner

Seafood Restaurant Award Blue Manna Bistro 

Seafood Business (Small) Award Ocean and Paddock 

Seafood Business (Large) Award Seafresh Group 

Safety Award Tanya Adams 

Research Development & Extension Award Abacus Fisheries Company Pty Ltd 

Environment Award Austral Fisheries 

Highly commended:

• Latitude Jewellers (Flotsam & Jetsam) 

• The Fisherman’s Daughter 

People Development Award Women in Seafood Australasia 

Seafood Industry Producer Award Ben Pethick and Fishing Vessel Bowithick 

Seafood Industry Promotion Award Shark Bay Prawn Trawler Operator’s Association 

Deckhand Award Thomas Breeze 

Young Achievers Award Manue Daniels 

Highly commended: 

• Morgan Hand 

Michael & Patricia Kailis Leadership Award* Dr George Kailis

*The name of this award category was amended to include the late Dr. Patricia Kailis. 
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The WA Seafood Industry Awards celebrate excellence and innovation in WA seafood.
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Sector Body Updates

Abalone Industry Association of WA

The Western Australia Abalone Fishery is 
managing the ongoing challenges from the 
past year but continues to face difficulties with 
air freight, which remains costly as a result 
of the limited commercial flights entering 
WA due to COVID quarantine requirements. 
The much-promoted IFAM-subsidised flights 
provided very little real support for the abalone 
sector, so the majority of product has been 
carried out as commercial cargo while enduring 
the associated pricing fluctuations.

Both international trade issues and domestic border 
closures continue to create uncertainty around 
long-term sales but we are developing strategies 
which may provide some solid ground on the 
path forward.

Despite the logistical challenges, green and brown 
lip abalone continue to sell into Asian markets 
in pockets of demand. Roei abalone is going into 
targeted domestic locations and while the Perth 
market has remained steady, interstate markets 
are slow but stable and are down on their traditional 
highs due to extended COVID lockdowns and the 
lack of international visitors who have traditionally 
created strong demand.

On a positive note, the abalone sector’s response to 
the COVID and China trade slowdowns was to leave 
a higher number of abalone breeding stock in the 
water and this is increasing our biomass for future 
seasons. The decision was based on environmental 
and economic considerations and is reflective of the 
industry’s underlying conservatorship as well as our 
commitment to sustainability and MSC certification.

The issues surrounding compensation for the Ngari 
Capes marine park continues to be a massive drain 
of time and energy for the Association with little 
forward movement. We have spent much of the year 
working our way through the State Administrative 
Tribunal appeal processes.

Representations to WAFIC and DPIRD have 
highlighted the issues surrounding the Fishing and 
Related Industries Compensation Marine Reserves 
Act 1997 (FRICMA) process and our experiences 
will hopefully trigger a wholehearted reform of the 
arrangements. 

The closure of the metropolitan Roe’s fishery off 
Ocean Reef Marina is now complete and we have 
moved into the Voluntary Fisheries Adjustment 
Scheme (VFAS) process for compensation. 
Applications closed on 30 November 2020 and are 
with the department for assessment. I would like 
to thank all members for their support in assisting 
the translocation of abalone from the site works. 
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“ Despite the logistical challenges, 
green and brown lip abalone 
continue to sell into Asian 
markets in pockets of demand.”

This was a massive task and the largest operation 
of its kind in Australia, which again underlines 
the industry’s commitment to sustainability and 
healthy oceans. 

In early May 2021, AIAWA was advised of a 
recurrence of abalone viral ganglioneuritis (AVG) 
in wild abalone off the coast of Cape Nelson in 
Victoria. At present the virus is only affecting stock 
in that region and there are no signs of the disease 
on abalone farms. The risk of transmission to WA 
is extremely low however AIAWA is monitoring the 
issue closely as it is a reminder of the need for strict 
vigilance at all times. 

Marine Stewardship Council (MSC) certification 
remains a priority for the industry as it positions 
our sustainability credentials and our abalone as a 
premium product for global markets. Our current 
MSC audit is now complete and being assessed and 
we are confident of complying and re-certification.

In closing, I would like to acknowledge the ongoing 
and tireless efforts of our committee members and 
our stakeholders as we continue to work through 
these challenging times.

Arnold Piccoli 
Chair, Abalone Industry Association of WA 
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Aquaculture Council of WA 
The Aquaculture Council of Western Australia 
(ACWA) is the State’s representative industry 
body for aquaculture and plays a key role in 
advocating for and promoting aquaculture 
in WA. 

ACWA seeks to work effectively with the Department 
of Primary Industries and Regional Development 
(DPIRD) and the Western Australian Fishing Industry 
Council (WAFIC) to affect positive outcomes in policy, 
regulation, and specific development initiatives for 
the aquaculture industry. 

Strategic Planning
The 2020/21 Financial Year was strongly focused 
on setting strategic objectives for ACWA, with the 
identification of industry priorities in the lead up 
to the March 2021 election, followed closely by a 
comprehensive strategic planning process in the 
third quarter. ACWA consulted with both member 
and non-member industry participants to inform 
its strategic framework, which was presented to 
State Government in May.

Industry stakeholders identified large-scale 
aquaculture production as a primary characteristic 
of success for the aquaculture industry over the 
coming decade; an objective that is in line with 
government targets and has been embedded in 
DPIRD’s Aquaculture Development Plan (ADP). 
ACWA’s strategic framework includes aligning its 
activity with the ADP as a primary tactic to support 
industry growth over the next three to five years. 

South Coast Aquaculture Development 
Zone (SCADZ)
The SCADZ is a key government initiative to facilitate 
large-scale production of shellfish in WA with major 
developments planned in Albany at four identified 
zone sites. 

ACWA has worked with DPIRD, WAFIC and local 
commercial fishermen in a late-stage stakeholder 
engagement process regarding three out of four 
zone areas. ACWA has also been involved in several 
community engagement events in Albany, raising 
awareness and building community support for the 
multi-million dollar investment in aquaculture that 
will create jobs, culinary and tourism opportunities 
and generate broader economic development in 
the region. 

Albany Shellfish Hatchery
ACWA has continued to provide support and 
government/industry liaison in the ongoing 
management of the State-funded Albany 
Shellfish Hatchery project throughout 2020/21 
and welcomed the announcement of additional 
investment to expand hatchery capacity as part 
of the COVID recovery infrastructure programs. 
The Hatchery has proved a great success in 
facilitating rapid re-development of existing 
shellfish leases in Oyster Harbour; has underpinned 
investment in the Mid-West, Gascoyne, and 
Kimberley regions; and continues to play a role in 
raising interest and awareness via community tours. 
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“ ACWA seeks to work effectively with the Department of Primary 
Industries and Regional Development and the Western Australian 
Fishing Industry Council to affect positive outcomes”

Member Engagement 
ACWA committed resources to enhanced 
membership engagement in the second half of 
2021/21, with a program of regional site visits 
to better understand operations and practical 
issues facing growers throughout the South-West. 
A proposal for funding was accepted by DPIRD to 
further this initiative in the Kimberley and Mid-West 
regions in 2021/22.

ACWA also facilitated an information-sharing 
meeting of the informal Shellfish Growers Network 
that includes member and non-member bivalve 
producers from around the state. 

Ongoing Funding Review
ACWA’s three-year funding agreement with WAFIC 
expired on 30 June 2021 and ACWA accepted 
the proposal for a short-term extension to that 
agreement to the end of December while the 
government’s review of the State’s fisheries peak 
body functions is completed. 

Jude Tyzack 
Executive Officer, Aquaculture Council of WA

23ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21 | WAFIC 23ANNUAL REPORT 2019-20 | WAFIC



Pearl Producers Association
Whilst the Western Australian Pinctada maxima 
pearl oyster fishery is in excellent condition, 
the  conditions for the pearling industry, 
its market and the operational environment as 
a result of the COVID-19 pandemic were very 
challenging.

Border lockdowns, limited freight options and 
a constantly changing operating environment 
continue to provide challenges. The fluidity and 
frequency of the various and ongoing changes 
required persistence and agility to navigate and 
are expected to continue to do so into the future.

At an operational level regional, State and 
international border closures affected the 
movement of ships, personnel and goods and are 
applying additional pressure to an already tight 
labour market. 

Difficulties continue to be experienced in the market 
for pearls and this is being further impacted by the 
tensions in Australia/ China trade relationships.

In the last year, the pearling industry has been 
engaged in consultation regarding the development 
of the Buccaneer Marine Park, the design and plan 
of which is the subject of ongoing consultation and 
discussion, including the proposal for some exclusive 
indigenous zones within the Buccaneer Marine Park. 
The impacted parties have been in open dialogue in 
this regard. 

With the recent passing of technical amendments to 
the Aquatic Resources Management Act, the industry 
expects to be re-engaged in regard to its transition 
from the Pearling Act 1990 into the new legislation.

The Pearl Producers Association farewelled its 
former chief executive officer, Aaron Irving during 
the year. Aaron had been with the association for 
many years and his contribution to the industry is 
valued and greatly appreciated.

Pearl Producers Association 
Info@pearlproducers.com
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“ The Pearl Producers 
Association farewelled its 
former Chief Executive 
Officer, Aaron Irving during 
the year. Aaron had been 
with the association for many 
years and his contribution 
to the industry is valued and 
greatly appreciated.”
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Western Rock Lobster (WRL)
Continued COVID-19 and market access 
impacts on the western rock lobster fishery
The effects of COVID-19 and market closures on our 
western rock lobster fishery cannot be understated. 
Whilst COVID-19 broke out during the Chinese 
New Year peak demand period in January 2020 
(WRL’s largest market for western rock lobster), 
its effects continued throughout 2020 and are still 
impacting the second half of 2021.

Our industry and the Department of Primary 
Industries and Regional Development (DPIRD) 
worked collaboratively to address some of the 
effects in a COVID Response Package. One of these 
initiatives included the September 2020 amendments 
to the West Coast Rock Lobster Managed Fishery 
Management Plan 2012. Some of the changes for 
the commercial western rock lobster fishery were to 
extend the 15 January 2020 season by 5.5 months to 
finish on 30 June 2021 (rather than 14 January 2021) 
and to revise the total allowable commercial catch 
(TACC) for the 2020 season to 9,000 tonnes.

Changes were also made to subsequent commercial 
season dates, including extending the 2021/22 
season to run from 1 July 2021 to 14 January 2022 
with a TACC of 9000 tonnes, which is the three-year 
average catch for that period. These season date 
changes resulted in two fishing seasons over a 
three-year period. Agreement was reached with 
government to provide financial relief for industry 
by deferring 12 months of access fee payments 
until after normal annual seasons resume from 
15 January 2023.

In addition to changes in season dates, TACC and 
access fees, the other key outcome of the lobster 
industry’s COVID Response Package was the 
establishment of a simple mechanism for fishers to 
sell lobster directly to the community. Direct sales 
were restricted when quota was brought in around 
2010 however the new Back of Boat sales (BOBs) 
mechanism now restores that important industry 
connection with the community. Initial demand 
and sales have been very encouraging and a great 
opportunity for industry promotion while increasing 
the availability and accessibility of western rock 
lobster on the local market. 

On top of management changes within the fishery, 
the WA State election in March 2021 saw WRL 
welcoming the Honourable Don Punch MLA to the 
role of Minister for Fisheries. WRL have met with the 
Minister on a number of occasions and look forward 
to continuing to work collaboratively with him and his 
office. In fact, assistance came from the Minister’s 
office in the form of news at the end of May 2021, 
that the Minister would support an extension of 
the current levy funding agreement through until 
14 January 2023. This funding will see WRL continue 
in its efforts to: 

• Increase external promotion of the industry;

• Increase internal communications with 
the industry; 

• Continually seek to obtain our MSC Accreditation 
and meet its associated expenses; 

• Develop our proposed research network; 

• Develop, monitor and build further capacity to 
provide emergency responses for biosecurity 
and whale mitigation measures; and 

• Engage in occupational health and 
safety initiatives. 
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WRL’s strategic initiatives proposal 
The development of four strategic initiatives 
was endorsed at the 2019 Annual Management 
Meeting and Industry Forum. These four initiatives, 
namely resource access security, independent 
funding for WRL, a WA-based lobster research 
network and increasing local supply of lobsters, 
began as headlines and through extensive industry 
consultation and feedback were developed into the 
WRL Board approved ‘Draft Strategy for security, 
independence and community connection for the 
western rock lobster industry’. This comprehensive 
strategy can be found on the WRL website and 
contains summaries of each initiative through to 
very detailed due diligence supporting industry’s 
proposal for increased security, independence 
and community connection. 

One of the key strategies that continues to progress 
is the establishment of a Research Network 
(Network) partnership between WRL, DPIRD and the 
Fisheries Research and Development Corporation 
(FRDC). Our goal for the Network is to develop 
science and innovation to ensure sustainability, 
grow GVP and maintain market competitiveness. 

“ Our goal for the Network is to 
develop science and innovation 
to ensure sustainability, 
grow GVP and maintain market 
competitiveness.”

The Network is expected to achieve far greater 
leverage of funding by third parties than what is 
currently possible under our Industry Partnership 
Agreement (IPA) and will not be restricted from 
conducting repetitive research, which is currently 
not allowed under the IPA. WRL has completed 
comprehensive due diligence for the Network’s 
business case, which includes key areas of 
research priorities (based on extensive industry and 
stakeholder interviews) and how outcomes from 
research can be applied by industry.
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Industry Partnership Agreement 
with FRDC 
Over the last four years, WRL in collaboration with 
FRDC and DPIRD have developed and managed a 
comprehensive portfolio of research, development 
and extension to ensure industry sustainability, 
value, efficiency and community connection. 
The diverse and balanced portfolio of programs and 
projects aims to generate innovative knowledge, 
technologies, practices and partnerships to 
maximise the return to all stakeholders from the 
community owned resource and create one of the 
most advanced fisheries in the world. 

The portfolio includes:

2021-030 Digital transformation of the WRL 
Industry to help resolve challenges and leverage 
opportunities to grow GVP and maintain 
competitiveness: partnering with FRDC and 
DPIRD, WRL will facilitate collaborations 
across the innovation ecosystem and with 
federal initiatives to deliver new, interoperable, 
modularised digital technologies and systems with 
real time data connecting fishers to processors 
to government and all stakeholders from catch 
to plate. These increases in efficiencies and 
connectivity will create benefits across the 
industry, including fisheries management, 
research, fishing operations, member engagement 
and community connection.

2020-124 Whale entanglement mitigation 
program: building on the mitigation measures 
industry has already successfully implemented 
over recent years, this program enables a deeper 
understanding of whale populations, migration 
patterns, behaviours, entanglement risks, 
disentanglement procedures and technologies, 
and feasible additional gear modifications.

2020-123 Biology, behaviour and ecology 
program: strategically targeting research on 
Panulirus cygnus and its ecosystem to meet 
the needs of the WRL fishing industry and 
stakeholders. This program will initially create 
a central database of all existing knowledge 
followed by a series of projects to improve the 
understanding of the species, its movements, 
behaviours and impacts from the changing 
environment in which it lives.

2020-062 and-063 Minimising plastic in the 
western rock lobster Industry: this project will 
identify plastic usage across the supply chain, 
research alternative fit-for-purpose materials 
and then test cost-effective options under typical 
working conditions. Effective disposal and 
recycling methods will be researched where plastic 
alternatives aren’t possible.

2020-060 Professional Industry Development 
provides WRL Directors, Members and industry 
participants with opportunities to develop industry 
skills and knowledge through relevant training and 
education events.

2020-059 Research, Development and Extension 
Program ensures resources and processes to 
consolidate and coordinate WRL RD&E planning 
and funding so that overall RD&E outcomes are 
delivered in an efficient and cost-effective way.

2020-058 Communications Program: 
increasing community understanding, trust, 
and acceptance for the western rock lobster 
industry. This extensive program is focused on 
promoting industry and includes a comprehensive 
twelve-month campaign with 7 West media to 
inform new audiences about the amazing western 
rock lobster story, performance and operations. 
The program uses all forms of media for industry 
promotion and initiated a benchmark community 
perceptions survey that will be repeated biennially 
to assess performance and identify current 
key messaging. 

2019-159 Pre-recruitment abundance and habitat 
program researches and develops an independent 
shallow-water survey for the Western Rock 
Lobster Managed Fishery to track pre-recruitment 
abundance and habitat change.

2019-101 Panulirus cygnus settlement: 
investigation of the direct and indirect role of 
submarine groundwater discharge (SGD) on 
Panulirus cygnus settlement processes; with 
consideration of the potential role of contaminants.

2019-099 Panulirus cygnus habitats: investigating 
climate driven shifts in benthic habitat composition 
as a potential demographic bottleneck for 
Panulirus cygnus. The project improves 
understanding the role of recruitment habitats to 
better predict the under-size lobster population for 
fishery sustainability.
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2018-128 Seafood Trade Advisory Group (STAG) 
extended Membership: developing, implementing, 
and communicating the Australian lobster industry 
trade agenda.

2018-117 Spiny Lobster Research Network: 
to develop science and innovation to ensure 
sustainability, grow GVP and maintain market 
competitiveness of the industry. The Network is 
expected to achieve far greater leverage of funding, 
will not be restricted from conducting repetitive 
research and will be unconstrained in delivering 
industry’s research priorities. Comprehensive 
business planning including RD&E priorities has 
been undertaken.

2017-194 SeSAFE: makes safety learning available 
to skippers and crew via mobile phone, tablet, and 
PC, reducing the need for paper-based training 
materials. Both generic and lobster specific 
modules have been developed to allow master 
and crew inductions and refresher courses to 
improve safety across the industry and benefit 
other fisheries. The system will send courses 
electronically with reminders and manage courses 
undertaken and results. 

2017-147 Strong Current Warning System: 
provides an internet-based strong current early 
warning system that informs knowledge of the 
nearshore current regime influencing the Western 
Rock Lobster Managed fishery.

2017-140 Digitising the Western Rock Lobster 
Industry: researching digital technologies 
which can build industry competitiveness to 
support GVP growth and sustainability. The first 
project undertaken through this program was 
the development of a digital strategy for the 
industry to guide future investments. Current 
projects include establishing single source of 
truth databases that will provide future services 
including memberships, catch applications and 
quota trading. Digitisation of the ordering and 
payment systems for back-of-boat lobster sales is 
the current priority for this program.

2017-138 Understanding the markets of western 
rock lobster: consolidate, analyse, and disseminate 
market data to support and inform TACC decisions 
to support GVP growth, competitiveness, and 
sustainability. This program is developing a 
Maximum Economic Yield model which is a 
shared objective of industry and government and 
will become another market and stock-based 
consideration in the TACC setting process. 

2016-260 Low Catch Rates: assess causes and 
implications of anomalous low lobster catch rates 
in the shallow water areas near the centre of the 
Western Rock Lobster Managed Fishery.

2016-164 ICWL: assess the feasibility of hosting, 
with DPIRD, the 12th International Conference and 
Workshop on Lobster Biology and Management 
in Perth Western Australia. Postponed due 
to pandemic.

2016-124 Standardise abundance indices: 
standardise important abundance indices used for 
stock assessment by determining the variation in 
catchability of western rock lobster.
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Industry engagement events
Effective engagement and two-way communication 
are central to forming then successfully delivering 
WRL’s strategies on behalf of industry to key 
stakeholders. Being aware of key issues and 
activities and having the capacity to engage with 
WRL are important factors that ensure our members 
are well informed and accurately represented. 

Industry forums at WRL’s AGM and Annual 
Management Meetings plus regular coastal tours 
provide WRL with a very effective and continuous 
face-to-face platform for industry engagement with 
our members. WRL held a coastal tour in March 2021 
comprising 3.5-hour meetings at five different key 
ports along the coast.  

These meetings allowed WRL members, fishers 
and stakeholders to discuss a wide range of 
industry-related topics and for WRL to update 
its members on key activities (including the 
development of the strategic plan, risk register, 
Management Plan amendments and other strategic 
documents). Representatives from DPIRD, AMSA, 
WAFIC, UWA, the banking sector and other 
stakeholders have joined WRL on these valuable 
tours. Their presence has enabled members to ask 
questions and network with a range of stakeholders. 

The feedback received during the coastal tours 
provides WRL with updates of Members’ interests 
and concerns, which informs WRL how best to assist 
its Members and manage its priorities. 

MSC Audit 
The Western Rock Lobster Fishery was the first 
fishery certified under the Marine Stewardship 
Council (MSC) program in 2000 and the first fishery 
to be re-certified for the fourth time in June 2017. 
WRL is approaching its 4th Annual Surveillance 
Audit and approaching the 2022 re-certification 
assessment. The importance of our fishery’s 
MSC certification is undeniable, as it assists our 
industry with social licence and provides a platform 
where the industry’s sustainability efforts can be 
independently assessed and credited. 

MSC certification incurs significant costs and 
resources however there are great benefits resulting 
in terms of sustainability guidance, resource 
management and branding delivering in-market 
preference by increasingly environmentally conscious 
consumers. WRL would like to acknowledge the 
significant role that DPIRD undertakes in the 
MSC re-certification process through science 
and management reports used for the audits. 

“ Effective engagement and 
two-way communication 
are central to forming then 
successfully delivering WRL’s 
strategies on behalf of industry 
to key stakeholders.”
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Western Rock Lobster 
was the first fishery 
certified under the MSC  
program back in 2000.

The Aquatic Resources Management Act 
2016 (WA) – ARMA 
In August 2021, the WA Legislative Council approved 
the final amendments to the ARMA legislation. 
ARMA will replace the Fish Resources Management 
Act 1994 (WA) and Pearling Act 1990 (WA). It is 
expected that the pearling industry will be the first 
to transition to ARMA in 2023 with its associated 
Aquatic Resource Management Strategies (ARMS) 
and Aquatic Resource Usage Plans (ARUPS).  
It is not yet known when the West Coast Rock 
Lobster Managed Fishery is expected to transition 
however WRL have already initiated an ARMA 
working group with its CEO Matt Taylor, Executive 
Officer Carey-Ann Harper and Dr Peter Rogers 
as an independent expert. The working group has 
commenced a two-tiered approach for reviewing 
ARMA in collaboration with DPIRD.  

The first stage involves identifying ARMA’s risks 
and opportunities for industry as well as resource 
management changes from current practice. 
The second stage (which is occurring simultaneously 
to the first) involves the development of principles 
and key elements sought by industry for inclusion 
in the ARMS, ARUP and Harvest Strategy for 
the declared resource that will incorporate the 
West Coast Rock Lobster Managed Fishery. 

WRL wishes to acknowledge the significant 
contribution and expertise that Dr Rogers provides 
to this working group and more broadly for WRL over 
many years. His extensive knowledge and expertise 
in WA fisheries is incredibly valuable and will ensure 
a thorough analysis and application of ARMA that 
will produce the best outcomes for the western rock 
lobster industry and the community owned resource. 

Changes at WRL 
2021 has been yet another very busy year for WRL. 
In May Carey-Ann Harper became our Executive 
Officer. Carey-Ann was a practising lawyer prior to 
joining WRL and is well credentialed for our ARMA 
working group and championing our industry’s 
transition under ARMA.

The WRL Executive is a highly professional 
and capable team that works at capacity to very 
effectively represent the best interests of WRL 
members. Together with a stable, diligent, and well 
led elected Board, the governance of the industry 
is acknowledged, respected and appreciated by 
external stakeholders. 

Terry Lissiman 
Chair, Western Rock Lobster
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Shark Bay Prawn Trawler Operators’ Association
The 2020 Shark Bay Prawn Managed Fishery (SBPMF) season ended on 22 September with a total catch of 1268 tonnes of prawns, 173 tonnes of blue 
swimmer crabs and 64 tonnes of scallops. 

In December 2020, the SBPMF, along with the 
Exmouth Gulf Prawn Managed Fishery, re-certified 
under the Marine Stewardship Council (MSC) 
standard. These are the first trawl fisheries in 
Australia to be certified against the MSC Version 
2.1, which is a more rigorous version of the standard 
introduced in 2018. It was pleasing to see that 
no conditions were placed on either fishery. 

An event to celebrate the recertification was 
held waterside at MG Kailis Group premises and 
attended by the previous Minister for Fisheries, 
the Hon Peter Tinley.

The SBPTOA made representations on a number 
of issues relevant to the SBPMF, including the 
Commonwealth Government’s reviews into Country 
of Origin Labelling of Food and the Draft Threat 
Abatement Plan for Turtles. Also, DPIRD’s Access 
Fee Review, the Shark Bay Scallop Harvest Strategy 
and Shark Bay Invertebrates’ Communications 
Framework.

Considerable time was spent on representations 
regarding Shark Bay Resources’ proposal for 80,000 
cubic metres of dredge spoil to be disposed in inner 
Shark Bay.  

This included representations with WAFIC and 
Sea Harvest to the proponent directly, as well as 
submitting an appeal to the EPA convenor once the 
project was approved. Also, making submissions to 
and meeting with the Commonwealth Department 
of Environment with regard to Shark Bay Resources’ 
application for a Sea Dumping Permit. The SBPTOA 
remains concerned that the disposal will have a direct 
impact on key commercial species within Shark Bay 
particularly given some species are still under 
recovery from the heatwave event in 2010/11.

In 2020/21, the SBPTOA’s Executive Officer 
successfully re-nominated as a Director of the 
Australian Council of Prawn Fisheries (ACPF). 
The ACPF works closely with the Fisheries Research 
Development Corporation (FRDC) and research 
providers to focus resources into the Research 
Development and Extension needed to address current 
priority investment areas in Australia’s wild harvest 
prawn fisheries. 

Felicity Horn  
Executive Officer, Shark Bay Prawn Trawler Operators’ 
Association
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1268 
tonnes of  
prawns

173 
tonnes of  

blue swimmer crabs

64 
tonnes of  
scallops

SBPMF vessel Mary Jane Stella
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Southern Seafood Producers (WA) Association

Now in its fourth year of operation, the Southern 
Seafood Producers (WA) Association Inc. 
(SSPWA) continues in its role of representing 
the professional fishers of the southwest and 
the south coast of Western Australia.

This year marks the end of the three-year funding 
agreement between WAFIC and SSPWA. The original 
funding arrangement expired on 30 June 2021, 
and whilst WAFIC has provided additional funding 
to SSPWA to maintain its operations for the 
remainder of the year, the State Government is 
yet to confirm its commitment to fund WAFIC 
over the next three years. As such, future funding 
arrangements for SSPWA remain uncertain. Despite 
this uncertainty, SSPWA is committed to fulfilling its 
obligations to members, providing representation 
at Annual Management Meetings, Environmental 
Risk Assessments, Harvest Strategies, Industry 
workshops and ensuring the views of our members 
are known to WAFIC and DPIRD.

In December 2020, SSPWA Executive Officer, 
Don Nicholls, stepped down from the role after more 
than two years of devoted service to the industry. 
Don will be remembered for his passionate approach, 

dedication, and determination in representing the 
professional fishing industry. We wish Don well in his 
future endeavours and may he enjoy fair winds and 
following seas.

Neil MacGuffie accepted the role of SSPWA Executive 
Officer in March 2021, having relocated from Victoria 
back to Western Australia. Neil brings with him 
over a decade of experience working with the WA 
professional fishing industry, and was quickly up to 
speed with the many issues facing SSPWA members.

Ngari Capes Marine Parks
State Marine Park compensation continues to plague 
professional fishers and WAFIC chief executive 
officer, Darryl Hockey, has stepped in to assist the 
professional fishers displaced by the Ngari Capes 
Marine Park so as to progress the compensation 
process. Considering the final management plan 
for the Ngari Capes Marine Park was gazetted 
on 10 April 2018, and applications for compensation 
were sought by the Department of Primary Industries 
and Regional Development in January 2019, it is 
particularly concerning that professional fishers and 
their families have had to endure significant financial 
loss and hardship for over two years.

Working towards a better solution
Given the ineffectiveness of the Fishing and Related 
Industries Compensation (Marine Reserves) Act 
1997 (the FRICMA), SSPWA and WAFIC will be 
working with DPIRD to develop an instrument that 
provides appropriate outcomes for those displaced by 
Marine Parks. SSPWA will be heavily involved in the 
development of this instrument, so as to safeguard 
the interests of our members from suffering a similar 
fate when the South Coast Marine Park is gazetted.

South Coast Marine Park
The Department of Biosecurity, Conservation and 
Attractions (DBCA) released the Draft Community 
Engagement Strategy for the Proposed South 
Coast Marine Park (PSCMP) in April 2021. WAFIC, 
SSPWA and the Esperance Professional Fisherman’s 
Association (EPFA), provided feedback to the 
document, outlining our concerns regarding the level 
of consultation and engagement with the professional 
fishing industry, and the lack of industry presence 
in the decision-making process. Amongst the many 
concerns, SSPWA endorsed WAFIC’s strongly-argued 
case for a clear process in the development of a 
compensation package to be established prior to 
the continuation of the consultation process, and to 
avoid the outcomes experienced with the Ngari Capes 
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compensation process. As the PSCMP process 
continues, SSPWA will be reaching out to members to 
gain a clearer understanding of their fishing practices 
and preferred fishing grounds.

Albany Aquaculture
The introduction of aquaculture development zones 
in Albany has been the cause for much concern 
to professional fishers. It is feared that local 
professional fishers with generations of fishing 
history could lose access to the waters of King George 
Sound and Princess Royal Harbour, to make room for 
aquaculture leases. 

Despite already having access to large areas, 
aquaculture interests insist on creating huge leases 
with little consideration for professional fishers. 
If these lease areas are sanctioned by DPIRD, the 
subsequent displacement of wild harvest fishing 
operations will have enormous implications for the 
supply of fresh seafood into Albany, and beyond. 

A decision to allow broadacre aquaculture 
development without first conducting the appropriate 
checks and balances will undoubtedly affect the 
financial viability of professional fishing operations, 
that are the primary source of fresh seafood into 
Albany and regional areas. Reductions in the supply 
of fresh local seafood will undoubtedly hurt local 
restaurants and retailers that pride themselves 

in using local, fresh, and sustainable seafood. 
The seafood consumer will ultimately lose out if 
there is a decline in the supply of local seafood. 

SSPWA strongly believes that wild harvest fishers 
and aquaculture can co-exist. Providing a clear, 
transparent and inclusive process is adopted, there is 
no reason why the aspirations of both sectors cannot 
be achieved.

South Coast Wetline Review
On 1 July 2021, the South Coast Line and Fish Trap 
Managed Fishery (SCLFTMF) and the South Coast 
Nearshore Net Managed Fishery (SCNNMF) will 
commence operation. The two managed fisheries 
emerged from the long-running South Coast Wetline 
Review – a review process spanning years that 
included the appointment of an Independent Access 
Panel in 2016. 

The panel considered historical fishing effort back to 
1997, with the ultimate recommendations resulting in 
the granting of 94 Managed Fishing Licences (MFLs) 
in the SCLFTMF and 35 MFLs in the SCNNMF. Despite 
the criteria for eligibility into the fishery being low, 
there were circumstances where those with a history 
of catch in the open access fishery did not gain access 
to either of the fisheries, highlighting the need for 
refinements of the process and considerations of 
extraneous circumstances.

95 members
representing

25 fisheries
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The Minister was pleased with the group’s input and 
being a regional man, appreciated the likely benefit 
to the local seafood industry.

SSPWA is committed to addressing current 
issues and to undertaking initiatives that not only 
identify the true fiscal and community value of the 
commercial fishing industry in the south and South 
West of WA, but also to continually identify new 
opportunities to optimise the availability of fresh WA 
seafood to the region. 

Multispecies Value Adding Initiative 
In 2020, SSPWA secured funding through the 
Australian Government’s Our Marine Parks Grants 
Program to complete a Prefeasibility Study for a 
Multispecies Value Adding Initiative Processing 
Facility (MSVAI) project. The project, completed in 
May, produced a report that looked at the merits of 
constructing a new (greenfield) single site processing 
facility, or using existing processing facilities to add 
value to local seafood production through:

• Utilisation of by-products and by-catch from 
existing and potentially new fisheries,

• Increasing industry capacity to capture and 
manage the catch, and add value long term,

• Developing markets and uses for underutilised 
species through the seafood supply chain, 

• Adding value to fish, seafood and related 
products, while not competing with existing 
supply chains,

• A combination of the above, or alternate means. 

Subject to the assumptions described in the 
report, the prefeasibility study drew three primary 
conclusions: 

1. An Albany-based MSVAI facility that processes 
available volumes less than 10,000 tonne per 
annum (tpa) from WA fisheries will be marginally 
viable. However, such a facility will significantly 
improve its viability if it prioritises volume from 
species that offer high value-adding multipliers, 
notably Australian sardines and sharks. 

2. An Albany-based MSVAI facility that processes 
available volumes above 12,000 tpa from WA 
and proximate Commonwealth fisheries will be 
commercially viable. Prioritising species volume 
with high value-adding multipliers will increase 
these returns.

3. A multi-site multi-chain MSVAI facility concept 
is appealing to 12 existing experienced WA 
seafood processors, value adders and marketers. 
They require SSPWA and WAFIC to manage 
a process that enables them to understand 
the findings of this study and to explore the 
opportunity to further invest in the MSVAI 
single and multisite options.

One of the suggestions to come out of the study 
was the recommendation to establish a limited 
number of steering groups to provide strategic and 
operational direction in the areas of marketing, 
sustainability, resource development and processing 
capacity expansion.

At the inaugural MSVAI Workshop, held in Albany, 
attendees considered the viability of the proposal and 
taking note of the enthusiasm of industry and DPIRD 
to progress such an undertaking. Industry members 
showed 100% support for progressing the project 
and as such a Steering Committee was convened 
and tasked with developing a ‘Blueprint for Action’. 

Albany meeting with Minister Punch
In June a small group of fishers, including 
SSPWA representatives, had the chance to meet 
with Fisheries Minister the Hon. Don Punch in 
Albany. The meeting provided the opportunity 
to discuss SSPWA’s vision and strategies for the 
advancement of commercial seafood producers of 
Western Australia. Those in attendance felt it was 
a productive and proactive meeting and came away 
with optimistic reinforcement.

SSPWA confirmed its support of open trilateral 
communication with Government, Recfishwest and 
the Seafood Industry, believing that through positive 
engagement, each can achieve their aspirations 
whilst maintaining a commitment to the fundamental 
principle of sustainability. A range of matters were 
considered on the day including: 

• Discussions around the opening of the herring 
G-trap fishery. 

• The proposed South Coast Marine Park and its 
implications for the viability of commercial fishing 
operations.

• Aquaculture development in Albany and the 
recognition of historic access when designating 
aquaculture lease areas.

• Recognition of indigenous fish names through 
the co-labelling of nearshore species.

• Funding for SSPWA going forward after 
December 2021.

There were healthy discussions around the table 
with the Minister engaging with the group, not simply 
listening to industry concerns but also discussing 
opportunities within the fishing and seafood industry. 
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“ Our industry is highly regulated 
and accountable for every 
fish caught in the West Coast 
Demersal Scalefish Fishery, 
it’s time the other sectors took 
responsibility for their impact 
on a shared resource.”

This increased effort is now having a serious ripple 
effect on local seafood retailers with many reporting 
that they simply cannot get enough fish into their 
premises to remain viable. The problem is further 
exacerbated with professional fishers being forced 
to travel further and fish longer to catch enough fish 
to justify their time and effort.

As an industry we have a commitment to supply 
fresh, local seafood to those West Australians 
who love seafood, but don’t want to or don’t 
have the means to catch it. A weekend hobby or 
fishing experience should never be favoured over 
a commitment to supply local businesses with 
seafood. The fishing industry is an integral part 
of many regional towns, with many associated 
services relying on our industry to keep their 
businesses viable. 

SSPWA enthusiastically advocates on behalf of 
members and commercial wet-liners to bring all 
sectors in line with their agreed commitment to fishing 
within the limits established in the harvest strategy. 
Our industry is highly regulated and accountable 
for every fish caught in the West Coast Demersal 
Scalefish Fishery. It’s time the other sectors took 
responsibility for their impact on a shared resource.

Currently the Board of Southern Seafood Producers 
(WA) Association Inc operates under an excellent 
mix of experienced and knowledgeable fishers, 
processors and business representatives, alongside 
Administration Officer, Alison Bramwell, working 
with the Southern Industry Manager (SIM), 
Neil Macguffie. As we prepare to face the challenges 
ahead, we look forward to further representing the 
interests of our members and the broader seafood 
industry.

Matt Benson-Lidholm JP 
Chair, SSPWA

Questions remain as to DPIRD’s level of commitment 
to the proposal and ability to develop adaptive 
management solutions that will enable the success 
of the project.

Albany Maritime Festival 
The Albany Maritime Festival will be held in July this 
year, the event typically draws hundreds of locals and 
visitors to the Boat Shed. The event, will be attended 
by WAFIC and SSPWA, providing an opportunity to 
showcase the amazing seafood from the south coast 
region. Seafood Ambassador, Don Hancey, local chef, 
and restaurateur Trenton Brennan and chef Daniel 
Sharp will work their magic to deliver seafood 
tastings for inquisitive palates.

The crowd can expect to enjoy local mullet, 
black bream, octopus, sardines, salmon, and an 
unforgettable bouillabaisse. The event will provide 
the opportunity to educate the audience with a 
filleting demonstration, local fishers and processors 
will speak to the crowds and explain the importance 
of a sustainable fishing industry and the benefits 
of locally caught seafood. The significance of these 
events shouldn’t be underestimated, as an industry 
we rely on the support of our local communities. 

Demersal Scalefish Resources
For close to a decade the West Coast demersal 
Scalefish resources have come under continued 
pressure from the lightly-regulated recreational 
sector. Over recent years recreational fishing 
effort has been further intensified by the closure 
of international and state borders due to COVID 
restrictions. Residents, business owners and 
professional fishers are all reporting a 
higher-than-average traffic flow through regional 
towns and an increasing number of recreational 
boats on the water.
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Marine Planning

Industry Update

WAFIC successfully applied for three grants under 
the Marine Park Grants totalling $1.373 million. 

These are:

• A project to financially assist temperate shark 
fishers’ transition from demersal gill nets to 
demersal longline; 

• A research project on the long-term use of 
demersal gill nets and demersal longline in 
WA’s temperate shark fisheries; and 

• A pre-feasibility study for a multi-species, 
value-adding facility for southern fisheries.

The latter two projects are underway, albeit delayed 
due to the coronavirus. 

The project to financially assist fishers to transition 
from demersal gill nets to demersal longline has 
been deferred pending the outcome of research 
project on demersal gill nets and demersal longlines. 

Similarly, programs on education and compliance 
on the marine parks have been delayed by 
the coronavirus.

State 
After many years in process, State Marine Parks, 
including Eighty Mile Beach Marine Park;  
Ngari Capes Marine Park; Lalang-garram  
Marine Parks (Horizontal Falls/Camden Sound/ 
North Lalang-garram); Yawuru Ngulagan/Roebuck 
Bay Marine Park; North Kimberley Marine Park; 
proposed Buccaneer Archipelago Marine Park;  
and the Montebello Islands Marine Park – are now 
in motion. 

There has been considerable activity on planning for 
the Buccaneer Marine Park including face-to-face 
meetings with the traditional owners and a number 
of meetings with senior staff from the Department 
of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions. 
WAFIC provided a final submission on the proposed 
zoning of the park in mid-June 2021. The planning 
processes, particularly the initial consultations with 
the traditional owners, excluded WAFIC and as a 
result we were hamstrung in getting traction in the 
subsequent deliberations.

In February 2019 the WA Government announced 
its “Plan For Our Parks”. This plan included the 
proposed extension to the Marmion Marine Park 
and a proposed marine park on the South Coast.  

A series of initial briefings were conducted by 
Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and 
Attractions in selected South Coast towns in 
March 2020, however due to the coronavirus 
there has been little progress on these initiatives.

The Department of Primary Industries and Regional 
Development (DPIRD) advised last year that a 
number of parks would be gazetted soon, including 
commercial fishing prohibition zones. It was 
further advised that these zones would not come 
into effect for 12 months from the gazettal date. 
The 12-month grace period was to allow any 
compensation claims under the Fishing and Related 
Industries Compensation (Marine Reserves Act 1997) 
(FRICM Act) to be made. There have been substantial 
and protracted delays in processing fishers claims 
due to uncertainty surrounding the application and 
interpretation of the FRICM Act provisions.

Commonwealth 

The Commonwealth Government Marine Reserve 
Network came into effect on 1 July 2018.

Accompanying the marine reserve initiative was a 
grants program open to the fishing industry.
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“ There have been substantial and protracted delays in 
processing fishers claims due to uncertainty surrounding the 
application and interpretation of the FRICM Act provisions.”

WAFIC successfully 
applied for three 
grants totalling 

$1.373 million
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Marine Stewardship Council

The past year has seen the continued rollout 
of the State Government’s $14.5million Marine 
Stewardship Council (MSC) program – a joint 
Department of Primary Industries and Regional 
Development (DPIRD) and WAFIC initiative 
announced by the Minister for Fisheries in 
September 2012.

The objectives of this initiative are to: 

• Enhance public confidence in the sustainable 
management of WA’s commercial fisheries; 

• Meet retail need to only serve fish from fisheries 
either independently assessed or in a fishery 
improvement project; and 

• Assess the state’s fisheries against an 
independent and science-based standard. 

The initiative subjected all WA fisheries to a MSC 
pre-assessment which determines if a specific 
fishery can successfully pass a full MSC assessment.

Confidential pre-assessment reports allow those 
fisheries that don’t meet the necessary benchmark 
to undertake a fisheries improvement program (FIP).

Government funding is made available for those 
fisheries identified as ready to enter full MSC 
assessment through a voluntary process. In addition, 
the State also pays the costs of the first annual audit 
of the fishery following MSC certification. Carriage of 
the project is through a Certification Advisory Panel 
made up of DPIRD (Fisheries), WAFIC, Recfishwest 
and MSC representatives. 

The Fisheries Research Development Corporation 
(FRDC) has funded a WAFIC project to develop 
extension and chain of custody initiatives through the 
supply chain. 

The MSC has appointed Matt Watson as its WA-based 
outreach officer. Matt is responsible for raising 
awareness and support for the MSC program across 
a broad range of interest groups, including the supply 
chain and the community. 

Currently the following WA fisheries are 
MSC certified:

• Western Rock Lobster

• Exmouth Gulf Prawn

• Shark Bay Prawn

• Mandurah Blue Swimmer Crab

• Mandurah Sea Mullet

• Deep Sea Crab

• Wild Oyster

• Wild Abalone

• Octopus

• Sea Cucumber

A further two fisheries are currently in assessment:

• Abrolhos Island Scallop

• Ocean Grown Abalone

Guy Leyland  
WAFIC-MSC Industry Project Leader
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There are now

10 MSC fisheries
in Western Australia

“ With the newly elected WA Government, WAFIC is currently proposing 
a further roll-out of the MSC initiative for the term of Government.”

MSC Sustainability Awards - March 2021.
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Industry Consultation Unit (ICU)

The Service Level Agreement (SLA) between the Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development (DPIRD) and WAFIC to provide dedicated 
consultation services on behalf of the department entered its tenth year and final year under the agreement between the two organisations in 2020/21.

Whilst the agreement is with WAFIC, the ICU 
acts as an independent unit and takes direction 
from DPIRD in terms of carrying out statutory or 
non-statutory consultation. The independence of 
the unit is a crucial aspect of its purpose as this 
allows DPIRD to participate in the process whist not 
acting in the capacity of both judge and jury over 
matters affecting the management of the fisheries 
in Western Australia.

In the ten years since the inception of the ICU, 
the systems utilised have worked well with managing 
the independent operation of the consultation 
function, and this has been positively acknowledged 
at both departmental and license holder levels. 
More importantly the ICU has provided DPIRD 
with a mitigating service, allowing for open dialogue 
between producers and regulators, ensuring 
outcomes are achieved.

That said, the operating environment is constantly 
evolving and there is today far greater scrutiny by 
government on sustainability and the management 
of the State’s marine resources.

With the impending new Aquatic Resource 
Management Act about to come into being, one 
can only ponder what life was like when the first 
meaningful act of WA’s Parliament to manage 
fisheries resources was introduced in WA in 
the 1870’s. This Act was known as the Fisheries 
(Dynamite) Act 1879 and was introduced to 
prohibit the use of dynamite or other explosives 
for the purpose of catching or destroying fish 
in Western Australia. 

Commercial fishing in WA has since transitioned 
through three new acts of parliament in relation 
to fishing, from a dedicated Fisheries Act (1905), 
a Fisheries Management Resources Act (1994) and 
now an Aquatic Resource Management Act (2016). 
DPIRD sees the ICU playing a pivotal role in 
facilitating and transitioning the current managed 
fisheries through to the new Act.

In terms of highlights associated with the last 
twelve months, there was no better example than 
the ICU being invited by the MG Kailis Group to the 
Exmouth Prawn Fishery community forum held at 
the Ningaloo Visitor Centre during September 2020. 

The ICU witnessed first-hand how a highly 
professional and industry-driven organisation in 
collaboration with DPIRD’s Offshore-Invertebrate 
Trawl Unit demonstrated to the local community how 
overall fishing activity and any impacts are managed 
and monitored in Exmouth Gulf. This included a 
presentation of breaking new research into the 
impacts of trawling on the benthic environment 
in Exmouth and how these are contained, with a 
base line to monitor in the future. The presentation 
showed how the shared journey between MG 
Kailis and the department, which commenced 
in the early 1960s, is still delivering important 
community outcomes.

Testament to the success of the community forum 
was the number of interested Exmouth people who 
attended. The audience asked some very informative 
questions, which were professionally answered by 
both MG Kailis and departmental staff.

Also of great interest was the community 
acknowledgement of the Marine Stewardship Council 
(MSC) certification of the fishery, awarded alongside 
the Shark Bay Prawn Fishery five years ago.  
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“ In the ten years since its inception, the ICU has worked well with 
managing the independent consultation, and this has been positively 
acknowledged at both departmental and license holder levels.”

The MSC’s Matt Watson also presented at the 
community forum and was well received by the 
audience. Whilst the market and trade liberalisation 
benefits from MSC certification are still evolving, 
the community confidence in a safety net provided 
by a third-party auditing agency of a fishery came to 
the forefront.

MG Kailis and the department will be conducting 
the community forum biennially and it is anticipated 
other fisheries based in the regions will follow 
the lead by MG Kailis and conduct similar types 
of forums to update the communities on how well 
fisheries are managed in WA. There are many 
wonderful and proud stories the commercial fishing 
industry can share with the community and in terms 
of a consultative process there could be no better 
way to do so than through a face-to-face open forum.

During the year, the ICU played a consultative role 
associated with bringing the last two major fisheries 
in WA under formal management with the gazetting 
of the South Coast Line and South Coast Near Shore 
Net Fisheries, which from 1 July will be operating 
under formal management plans.

A process of bringing fisheries under formal 
management commenced in the early 1960s when 
the WA Rock Lobster Fishery became a limited-entry 
fishery, has now seen most fisheries in WA operating 

under these formal arrangements. This allows the 
industry to work with the department in setting 
commercial harvest strategies for the respective 
fisheries and commence dialogue with non-
commercial stakeholders to manage the resource 
with effective resource sharing arrangements. A 
strong accent on accurate data collection by all 
stakeholders in capturing and recording fishing effort 
should be a number one priority across all managed 
fisheries transitioning into the new Aquatic Resource 
Management Act.

The ICU facilitated numerous management and 
specific purpose meetings throughout regional WA 
and in the Perth area during 2020/21. This annual 
conversation between Industry and DPIRD allows 
a forum for both parties to share information vital 
to the management of the marine resources in WA. 
Interestingly, an eastern states research project 
team tasked with developing a new consultation 
model between producer and regulator recently 
interviewed the ICU to gauge how the process 
operates in WA. The team were impressed with 
how the consultation process successfully delivers 
outcomes between the two groups and would be 
recommending a similar system be introduced on 
the east coast.

This acknowledgement is credit to all who were 
involved in formulating the ICU concept back 
in 2010. Industry at the time was faced with an 
unenviable situation when the then government 
decided to do away with the successful management 
advisory councils.

As opposed to adopting a “do nothing” approach, 
both WAFIC and the department set about 
addressing the situation. Whilst the ICU is no 
replacement for formal and well-resourced advisory 
councils, the ICU does provide both producer and 
regulatory organisations with a mechanism to 
carry out highly valued consultation. This benefits 
all West Australians in the management of what is 
essentially a community resource and there is no 
doubt the success of this initiative is underpinned by 
the ICU’s independence.

The ICU said farewell to Basia Lamb in 2021 after 
four years-service. During her time with the ICU, 
Basia has added value to the profile of the ICU 
through her efficient minute taking, good-natured 
spirit and happy demeanour. The Executive Assistant 
position has been temporarily filled until the future 
of the Service Level Agreement is decided.

Angus Callander 
Executive Chairman 
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Impacts from the Oil and Gas Industry and Marine Developments
The ongoing pressures from the oil and gas industry from activities such as seismic surveys, drilling, construction of sub-sea infrastructure and 
decommissioning continue to impact the commercial fishing industry. These activities also affect the marine environment and aquatic organisms, 
including commercially important finfish and invertebrate species and their food source. 

WAFIC is continuing to be actively involved with the oil 
and gas industry and working on a number of projects 
to manage the ongoing pressures and issues for the 
commercial fishing industry.

National Energy Resources Australia (NERA) 
is facilitating a project with eleven oil and gas 
companies to reduce the consultation burden 
for commercial fishers and to streamline an 
Environment Plan for seismic survey activities. 
WAFIC, Northern Territory Seafood Council and 
commercial fishery licence holders have provided 
feedback into two protocols “The Commercial 
Fishing Industry Adjustment Protocol” and the 
“Commercial Fishing Industry Operational Protocol”. 
This project will contribute to resolving some 
on-the-water issues and is an unprecedented step 
forward and sets a new baseline for how oil and 
gas companies should work with the commercial 
fishing industry.

WAFIC’s Fisheries Research and Development 
Corporation (FRDC) funded project is progressing and 
will be finalised by the end of this year. 

The seismic library of published research papers 
is complete, and there is ongoing work on agreed 
consultation guidelines overarched by a national 
policy framework and a State-by-State summary 
of fishing information.

An emerging challenge WAFIC has experienced this 
year is the impacts from marine developments such 
as salt production and dredging campaigns. WAFIC 
is monitoring and working with the Environmental 
Protection Authority and key stakeholders to ensure 
proponents and decision-makers consider not 
only the social licence of the commercial industry, 
but protect the aquatic resource they rely on.

WAFIC has commenced engagement with the newly 
formed decommissioning team at NOPSEMA to work 
through developing a strategic approach to manage 
the volume of oil and gas sub-sea infrastructure that 
will need to be decommissioned in coming years and 
what that means for the commercial fishing industry.

Carli Telfer 
Industry Development Manager 
WA Fishing Industry Council

Seismic library of 
published research 
papers is complete
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“ The ongoing pressures from the oil and gas activities and marine 
developments is continuing to impact the commercial fishing 
industry and the aquatic resource.”
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Some of the more substantial changes include: 

• RACs will no longer prepare individual strategic 
plans but concentrate on R&D priority setting under 
the umbrella of FRDC’s R&D Plan 2020-2025.

• All RACs will now have a competitive approach 
to investment without the limit of specific budget 
allocations as in the past. This is to ensure that 
investment flows to where priorities are required 
within and between jurisdictions. 

• Note: FRDC is legislatively required to return the 
dollar provided in any year by the industry back to 
the state through projects over a five-year period.

• Conflict of interest will be addressed by removing 
the requirement for project applications to be 
assessed by the RAC. The role will now be fulfilled 
by external reviewers who are experts in the field 
related to the application in hand and will also 
better involve expected end-users to ensure that 
project outputs are fit for purpose. 

These changes will allow the RAC to give greater 
focus on priority setting for project development and 
more finely tune the delivery of project outcomes/
outputs to identified end-users to ensure that positive 
impacts are delivered through investment. 

WARAC considers the WA Fishing Industry Council’s 
R&D committee will have an important function in 
‘feeding’ the WARAC with potential commercial fishing 
industry priorities for consideration. 

RAC engagement will be broader than it was previously, 
with the FRDC looking to experiment with different 
approaches to making stakeholder input part of priority 
setting and updating. This may include extension officer 
services, open online workshops and access to RAC 
meetings during which stakeholders can describe their 
issues or needs as they relate to the five outcomes set 
out in the FRDC’s R&D Plan 2020-2025.

Industry Partnership Agreements (IPAs)
In addition to the WARAC, Western Australian 
investment is also informed by the priorities and 
advice of Industry Partnership Agreements (IPAs). 
IPAs are between the FRDC and a specific fishery to 
manage a suite of targeted projects over a specified 
time period against an agreed, industry endorsed, 
strategic R&D plan. Current IPAs affecting WA industry 
sectors include western rock lobster, pearls, abalone, 
oysters and prawns.

Some IPAs manage the entire FRDC contribution for 
that particular sector (e.g. abalone), whilst others 
manage part of their contribution within the IPA  
(e.g. pearls, prawns) with the balance managed  
within the RAC expenditure process.

Research Opportunities 
WA Research Advisory Committee 
(WARAC) 
As part of its 2020-2025 Research and Development 
Plan, the Fisheries Research and Development 
Corporation (FRDC) will continue support for 
a network of Research Advisory Committees 
(RACs) located in each state, territory and the 
Commonwealth fisheries.

As such, the FRDC has recently reformed the 
WARAC. The new committee comprises a mix 
of expertise and representatives that will lead 
the identification, collation and prioritisation 
of the needs of Western Australia’s fishing and 
aquaculture stakeholders.

The RACs have an extremely important role in 
maximising the efficiency of the FRDC’s planning 
and funding process. The RACs also provide an 
important pathway to identify and address the 
research, development and extension needs of 
the jurisdictions through investment. 

Every dollar that the Western Australian industry 
provides to FRDC generates around $3.89 (five-year 
average) in investment back to WA through industry 
sector priority projects. In 2020/2021 the WA 
contribution to FRDC was $1.426 million.

An independent review of the RAC process was 
carried out through 2020 (including substantial 
industry consultation) resulting in welcomed 
improvements to process.
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Every dollar that the 
Western Australian industry 
provides to FRDC generates 

$3.89 
(five-year average) 

in investment back into 
the state through priority 

relevant projects.
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WA Fishing Industry Council (WAFIC) 
WAFIC is the most active industry representative 
peak body nationally, with FRDC investing in a 
number of WAFIC projects. 

These projects relate to WAFIC offering co-ordination 
and leadership to issues of national strategic 
importance to the fishing industry: 

• Project 2017-194: SeSAFE – delivering industry 
safety through electronic learning 

• Project 2017-186: Oil and Gas: National 
coordination – seismic and other issues

• Project 2013-030: Extension of MSC Certification 
for Western Australian Fisheries funding 
WAFIC resources 

WA also benefits from FRDC national research 
initiatives such as FishSafe (WHS) Initiative, Aquatic 
Animal Health, Biosecurity Program and the Seafood 
Trade Advisory Group.

Comparatively speaking, in the past five years, 
FRDC has invested more into WAFIC than any other 
state-based peak body.

WA Research Advisory Council members
Brett McCallum – Independent Chair
Dr Matt Pember – WAFIC
Dr Dan Gaughan – DPIRD
Leyland Campbell – Recfishwest
Linda Williams – Commercial fishing
Steven Davies – ACWA
Justine Arnold – Aquaculture
Heidi Mippy – Kimberley Land Council

• Ongoing research to support MSC certification. 

– Additional research is also being undertaken, 
where required, to address research gaps 
that may inhibit MSC recertification – 
(Project 2020-014: Genetic stock structure of 
commercially important deep sea crab species)

Implementing the New FRDC Research  
and Development Plan 2020-2025
The FRDC is currently in the process of implementing 
the R&D Plan 2020-2025. The new R&D Plan builds 
on a shared ten-year vision, developed by diverse 
sectors across Australia, for what fishing and 
aquaculture could be like by 2030, and sets out how 
we can work together to achieve this vision within the 
remit of our activities. This plan outlines where we 
need to go – and why. 

For more information: 

RACs: www.frdc.com.au/frdc-stakeholders/ 
research-advisory-committees

FRDC R&D Plan: www.frdc.com.au/research/ 
rde-planning-and-priorities

Brett McCallum 
WARAC Chair 

Chris Izzo 
WARAC Manager

Example of WA Projects funded in 2020/21
• Improving compliance in recreational fisheries, 

specifically behaviours that can improve Blue 
Swimmer Crab compliance (Project 2019-011: – 
Optimising Compliance Outcomes in Recreational 
Fisheries). This work complements existing work 
understanding the social dynamics of this fishery 
(Project 2016-034: Golden fish: evaluating and 
optimising the biological, social and economic 
returns of small-scale fisheries)

• New aquaculture opportunities continue to be an 
area where significant leverage has enabled WA 
to support projects either with the assistance of 
cash contributions, or through co-investment with 
other northern state jurisdictions.

– An industry cash contribution of $226,000, 
in conjunction with the resources newly 
made available at the new DPIRD shellfish 
hatchery will support investment into Scallop 
ranching through industry – (Project 2019-068: 
Development of a sustainable scallop 
[Ylistrum balloti] fisheries enhancement 
program for Western Australia: Preliminary 
Feasibility Study)

– Investment leverages from the Northern 
Australia CRC particularly into developing 
a tropical rock oyster industry – (Project 
2020-021: Contextualising shellfish food safety 
in Northern Australia) and (Project 2020-043: 
Toxigenic vibrio baselines and optimum 
storage, transport and shelf-life conditions 
to inform cold supply chains in the north 
Australian Tropical Rock Oyster industry)
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“ WAFIC is the most active industry representative 
peak body nationally, with FRDC investing in  
a number of WAFIC projects.”
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Safety and Training

Safety for fishing vessels is regulated under two separate government jurisdictions.

1. Marine Safety – across Australia is managed on a 
national basis under a single jurisdiction through 
the Australian Maritime Safety Authority (AMSA). 
AMSA took over full management responsibility 
on 1 July 2018.

2. Workplace Safety – within WA is managed under 
the Occupational Health and Safety Act (1994) 
by the Department of Mines, Industry Regulation 
and Safety.

Anyone working in the fishing or aquaculture 
industry should make sure they are familiar with 
their responsibilities under the occupational health 
and safety laws that apply in their State or Territory 
as well as meeting the national marine safety laws 
under AMSA.

Marine Safety
The change to a national marine safety management 
system is now complete with full legislative and 
management responsibility delivered by AMSA. 
This change was the result of a 2012  
whole-of-government approach to harmonise 
transport activities across Australia to reduce 
red tape, reduce costs and improve safety.

Marine safety refers to the regulatory arrangements 
around vessel integrity, safety equipment, search 
and rescue, operational area authorisations and 
certificates of competency for masters and crew.

The AMSA policy and regulation approach is 
focused on ‘trust and verify’ which places greater 
responsibility on the vessel owner (including corporate 
entities) and its operators (skipper and crew) 
to manage safety on a vessel. Those demonstrating 
consistent safe vessel operations will be rewarded 
with reduced regulatory compliance (e.g. extended 
survey periods) and the resultant reduction in red tape 
and reduction in cost to the vessel.

This approach recognises that safety and training 
needs to be specific to each and every individual 
fishing vessel or aquaculture operation. One size 
does not fit all.

Marine safety legislation requires owners and 
operators to identify hazards, measure the risk and 
then mitigate that risk through active management 
measures such as standard operating procedures, 
training, at-sea-practice drills and emergency 
procedure drills. All these aspects need to be formally 
documented in a ‘safety management system’ 
designed specifically for the vessel and endorsed as 
appropriate by AMS accredited surveyors.

Training is an important link to vessel safety 
management, requiring owners to ensure their 
employees are effectively skilled to safely manage 
their specific role in a vessel’s operations.

Workplace Safety
At the same time as ‘marine safety legislation’ is 
applied by AMSA, all fishing vessels and aquaculture 
sites are classed as ‘workplaces’ and are subject 
to the State jurisdiction work health and safety 
legislation. In WA, this legislation is managed 
by Worksafe. 

Workplace legislation also requires owners and 
operators to identify hazards, measure the risk and 
then mitigate that risk through active management 
measures such as standard operating procedures, 
training, at-sea-practice drills and formally 
documented safety management systems.
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• Fishing industry sector body groups are regularly 
informed and requested to provide targeted 
comments for inclusion in submissions; 

• Direct email to members is carried out on 
matters of significance; 

• Co-ordination between various government 
agencies and industry, including attending sector 
body meetings, port visits and annual fishery 
management meetings. 

WAFIC actively participates in high-level consultation 
through direct representation on a range of state 
and national advisory groups on marine safety 
and workplace safety matters to ensure that WA 
fishing industry interests are clearly enunciated, 
represented and understood by authorities and 
decision-makers.

In 2020/21 WAFIC was actively involved in: 

• AMSA Regional Safety Committee (WA) 

• AMSA Industry Reference Group – Review of 
MO505 (Certificates of Competency)

• AMSA Industry Reference Group – Review of 
MO504 (Operations Standards) 

• AMSA Cost Recovery Review Working Group 

• Safe Work Australia – Model national 
WHS legislation 

• Worksafe – Occupational Diving Code of Practice 
Working Group 

• Logistics Training Council – Maritime 
Advisory Group 

• Food, Fibre and Timber Training Council 
(responsible for seafood post-harvest) 

• Skills Impact – Seafood Training Package 

• Australian Industry Standards – Maritime 
Training Package 

• FRDC Seafood Industry Safety Initiative. 

WAFIC Role in Safety and Training
The WA Fishing Industry Council (WAFIC) focuses 
resources on communicating to the fishing and 
aquaculture industry: 

• What are the safety and training issues that will 
impact the industry?; 

• How to access the necessary information on the 
issue at hand – government agencies, websites, 
consultation papers, workshop, reports or 
port visits; 

• How to access guidelines, support expertise and 
legislative requirements to enable owners and 
operators (skippers and crew) to understand 
and apply the information to fit their specific 
vessel operations. 

WAFIC provides the following services and 
communications to industry for marine safety, 
workplace safety and industry training: 

• Updates of issues of relevance to industry are 
published in WAFIC’s monthly newsletter and on 
the WAFIC website; 

• Latest news and important links are regularly 
updated on the WAFIC website; 

• Analysis of government proposals, consultation 
with industry and development of submissions on 
behalf of the WA fishing industry; 
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Major Issues in 2020/21 
1. Safety Management Systems

All vessels are required by law to have on-board 
an Safety Management System (SMS) specifically 
designed for their vessel operations. An SMS must 
demonstrate the owner/operator has completed a 
process of hazard identification, risk assessment 
and an applied management approach to reduce the 
identified risks, including training all crew in vessel 
operations and emergency procedures. WAFIC has 
been providing industry with continuous directions to 
access SMS guidelines, templates and appropriate 
expertise to assist in developing individual vessel 
SMS plans.

Failure to hold a current SMS on-board a vessel and 
demonstrate active application of the SMS processes 
within its fishing operations (including practice drills 
for emergency procedures) may result in the vessel 
being banned from going to sea.

2. Review of Marine Order 505

WAFIC has participated strongly in the AMSA review 
of qualifications arrangements for skippers and 
engineers’ tickets in Marine Order 505 of the new 
marine safety legislation. AMSA released the draft 
marine order for consultation in mid-September. 
WAFIC will assist industry to respond. This process 
should result in the introduction of a Coxswain 3 
skippers ticket for low complexity vessels under 
12 metres in length. 

3. Vessel Stability

Stability assessment of fishing vessels remains a 
current topic with the release of coronial findings 
for several recent prawn trawler fatalities across 
Australia. Under the new national marine safety 
laws [National Standard for Commercial Vessels 
(NSCV)] it is a requirement that the ‘vessel stability 
documentation’ is on-board at all times. Stability 
documentation must reflect the current configuration 
of the vessel and be consistent with the class and 
operation of the vessel. This is especially important 
where modifications have been made to a vessel, 
specifically where water-tanks or structures have 
been added to the deck. 

4. Levy Support for Industry

At the time of moving to a national marine 
management system in 2018, Federal and State 
governments agreed to provide transition funding 
for industry for 10 years, including a 100% subsidy 
for the first three years, followed by the on-going 
application of cost recovery. Due to COVID this 100% 
subsidy is expected to continue into 2021-2022.

The AMSA process to implement a cost recovery 
policy has been delayed as part of COVID decisions. 
WAFIC will work to ensure that the State and Federal 
Governments sustain their commitment to the 100% 
subsidy until the review of costs recovery policy and 
application is finalised. 

5. Mandatory Float-Free EPIRBs

Following overwhelming support from industry, 
float-free EPIRBs became mandatory on all 
vessels operating beyond two (2) nautical miles 
from January 2021. The timeline will allow for 
an 18-month transition period for operators to 
phase out old EPIRBs at the end of their useful 
life. This consultation has included alternative 
arrangements for vessels less than 7.5 metres. 

6. New WA Workplace Safety Legislation

Passed by the WA Parliament in 2020, the new 
legislation includes criminalising ‘industrial 
manslaughter’ that carries a maximum penalty of 
between five and 20 years of imprisonment for an 
individual and a maximum $10 million fine for a body 
corporate. Other new aspects include increased 
penalties, prohibiting insurance coverage for WHS 
penalties and the introduction of enforceable 
undertakings as an alternative penalty.

Small businesses including family fishing operations 
and any company director could face serious 
penalties for something they did not deliberately or 
knowingly intend. Employers and company directors 
could be jailed and/or face bankruptcy for an offence 
that they had not anticipated could occur.
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“ Training is an important link to vessel safety management, 
requiring owners to ensure their employees are effectively skilled 
to safely manage their specific role in a vessel’s operations”

7. Occupational Diving Code of Practice

The Worksafe Commission recently advised that 
the Commission has ceased work on developing a 
stand-alone Occupational Diving Code of Practice for 
WA (CoP).

In the lead up to the State election, the Labor Party 
announced they would be introducing a stand-alone 
occupational diving code of practice in Western 
Australia. In 2016 the WA Worksafe Commission 
established an Occupational Diving CoP Working 
Group which included representation from the fishing 
and pearling industries. A draft CoP was released for 
public comment in May 2020 and WAFIC co-ordinated 
an industry response.

Late in 2020 the State Government introduced new 
WHS legislation, thus triggering take-up of the 
national ‘model set’ of workplace safety regulations, 
including diving.

The Worksafe Commission has ceased work on 
the draft CoP and will concentrate on developing 
guidance materials for the WA occupational diving 
sectors in line with the national ‘model set’ of 
workplace safety regulations, including diving. 
The WA Worksafe Commission has stated that a 
stand-alone WA Occupational Diving CoP would 
duplicate (and be less effective) than the diving 
content in the national ‘model set’ of workplace 
safety regulations (including diving) to be included in 
the new WA WHS legislation.

WAFIC and Pearl Producers Association (PPA) 
were actively involved in the development of the 
diving section of the ‘model set’ of workplace safety 
regulations (Part 4.8) managed through SafeWork 
Australia. WAFIC and PPA are of the view that the 
diving requirements in these national ‘model set’ 
of workplace safety regulations are practical and 
effective for our industries.

WAFIC has written to the Worksafe Commissioner to 
seek a meeting to discuss how the national ‘model 
set’ of workplace safety regulations (including diving) 
will be incorporated into the new WA WHS legislation 
regulations.

The ‘model set’ of workplace safety regulations can 
be found in Part 4.8 – Diving Work (on page 131) at: 
https://www.safeworkaustralia.gov.au/resources-
publications/legislation

8. FishSafe Australia

FishSafe Australia is an FRDC partnership with 
Seafood Industry Australia and the Australian 
Maritime Safety Authority.

The primary role of is to identify (through partnerships 
and leadership) Research, Development and Extension 
(RD&E) priorities through consultation with industry 
and develop projects to address those priorities, 
facilitate effective extension and adoption of RD&E 
outputs and promote collaboration and co-investment.

I would like to recognise the work of Chris Battel 
in his role as AMSA (WA) Liaison Officer, for his 
tireless industry consultation efforts. It is valuable 
and appreciated.

Brett McCallum 
Safety and Training Consultant 
WAFIC 
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SeSAFE project continues to provide safety training despite COVID lockdowns
Unlike most other safety training offerings, SeSAFE can deliver safety training to crews online, so they can receive training even in lockdown. 
This training serves as a readily accessible foundation and precursor to practical safety training, including onboard safety inductions by fishing 
skippers and can be completed by crews in the safety of their home.

For example, fishery-specific modules have now 
been completed for the Western Rock Lobster 
Council, including safe pot baiting, setting, hauling 
and stacking. These modules are also serving as a 
pilot for module delivery to crew using their mobile 
phone. This mode of delivery has not been achieved 
previously and will provide crew an unparalleled level 
of accessibility and convenience to safety training. 
The roll-out of these modules is planned for later 
this year.

Earlier this year, Fremantle-based Austfish Pty Ltd 
required all skippers and their crew to complete 
several SeSAFE modules prior to commencement 
of the fishing season in the Northern Prawn Fishery. 
For new crew this served as a foundation prior 
to receiving their onboard safety induction, and 
it served as refresher training for skippers and 
experienced crew, having completed the training 
a year or two ago.

The Northern Prawn Fishery has been an early 
adopter of SeSAFE training and now an estimated 
80% of skippers and crew have completed training 
modules at least once, with many having done so 
several times. 

The SeSAFE project is a national initiative designed 
to raise awareness and improve safety performance 
in the Australian fishing and aquaculture industry. 
SeSAFE has now developed 48 training modules 
(videos) that fishers can complete safely online. 
Each module takes around four-to-six minutes to 
complete, covering a variety of topics in emergency 
response, personal safety, operational safety, and 
fishery-specific safety. 

Skippers select which modules they want their crew 
to complete and SeSAFE does the rest, linking crew 
members to the modules online. Modules do not 
have to be completed at once, but for convenience 
can be spaced out over a number of days. 
Crew answer several questions at the end of each 
module to confirm their comprehension of module 
content. A record of their completion is then emailed 
to the skipper. 

While COVID lockdowns have made it difficult to raise 
industry awareness of SeSAFE modules, significant 
progress has been made in several fisheries. 

Further demonstrating the adaptability of online 
safety training delivery, SeSAFE is now working 
with the Department of Infrastructure, Planning and 
Logistics in the Northern Territory to develop two 
bespoke training modules focussing on safe working 
practices for fishers when using berthing and wharf 
facilities. In recent years multiple crew members 
have suffered injuries and close-calls due to unsafe 
practices when their vessel has been tied up at 
the Duckpond or other wharf facilities in Darwin. 
Injuries include falling between the vessel and wharf 
and being run over by a forklift, while close-calls 
with moving cars or trucks are not an uncommon 
occurrence. These modules will also be completed 
later in the year and will be available for crew to 
complete alongside other SeSAFE modules.

As reported last year, future steps for the SeSAFE 
project include exploring the introduction of a 
user-pays model whereby crew pay a small amount 
for module access.  

Safety is the 

#1 priority 
for skippers
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This approach is consistent with many other 
industries where workers complete safety training 
prior to stepping on the worksite, and it may help 
perpetuate the availability of this training over the 
long term. This exploration is ongoing and a report 
describing the potential introduction of such a model 
will be completed and released later in the year. 

Multiple fishers, industry body representatives and 
others around Australia have been interviewed 
seeking their thoughts about such a model, including 
the introduction of a white-card-equivalent for 
fishers that have completed SeSAFE training. 
Notably, SeSAFE training is currently available to 
any fisher at no cost.

Individuals wishing to test and evaluate one or 
more modules can do so by contacting Steve Eayrs 
at seayrs@sesafe.com.au. The SeSAFE project is 
funded by the FRDC, AMSA, and the commercial 
fishing industry and administered by the WA Fishing 
Industry Council. Additional information can be found 
on the project website, www.sesafe.com.au. 

Fishers interested in a no-cost independent audit 
of their Safety Management Systems can contact 
Fish Safe Australia at fishsafeaustralia@iinet.net.au. 

Steve Eayrs  
Principal Investigator 
SeSAFE

“ SeSAFE provides safety training to crew members 
in the safety of their home.”- Steve Eayrs, SeSAFE

SeSafe training modules are professionally delivered in an 
informal environment that suits commercial fishers.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

2021 2020

Notes $ $

INCOME

Income from GVP 2,651,825 2,623,872

Water Lease Fee 50,000 50,000

Interest Received 12,550 30,122

Member Subscriptions 20,700 21,350

Other Income 45,252 65,762

Jobkeeper Payments 132,500 42,000

Cash Flow Boost 50,000 50,000

Other Trading Revenue - 63

Project Management Fees 103,251 100,733

Reimbursements 36,526 36,763

3,102,604 3,020,665

EXPENDITURE

Depreciation and Amortisation Expense 141,907 43,304

Employment Expenses 1,250,452 967,140

Loss on Disposal of Assets 53,348 - 

Other Operating Expenses 5 379,979 346,838

Provision for Exmouth Trawl 19,925 20,405

Provision for PPA GVP 4,031 - 

Rental Expense 11 39,017 144,857

Sector Body Payments 6 1,162,261 1,151,943

3,050,920 2,674,487

WAFIC Current Year Surplus/(Deficiency) 51,684 346,178

2021 2020

Notes $ $

PROJECTS

Projects (Net) 3 (939) 16,205

Surplus/(Deficiency) Before Income Tax 50,745 362,384

Income Tax Expense - - 

Current Year Surplus/(Deficiency) 
After Income Tax 50,745 362,384

Retained Profit at the beginning of the 
Financial Year 2,038,817 1,676,433

Add: Project Reserve 12 159,200 200,593

Add: Industry Corporate Development 
Reserve 13 270,463 216,299

Retained Profits at the end of the 
Financial Year 2,519,224 2,455,709
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

2021 2020

Notes $ $

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 7 2,516,298 2,519,708

Trade and Other Receivables 8 241,863 154,141

Prepayments (Insurance) 9,489 9,885

Accrued Income 812 4,882

Total Current Assets 2,768,462 2,688,616

Non-Current Assets

Plant And Equipment, Furniture and 
Motor Vehicles 10 59,612 135,695

Right of Use Asset 9 318,089 - 

Total Non-Current Assets 377,701 135,695

Total Assets 3,146,163 2,824,311

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Employee benefits 99,263 93,789

Lease Liability 11 120,953 - 

GVP Provisions 44,361 20,405

Other Provisions 12 77,463 176,786

Trade and Other Payables 60,824 39,603

Total Current Liabilities 402,864 330,583

2021 2020

Notes $ $

Non-Current Liabilities

Lease Liability 11 205,853 - 

Employee Benefits 18,222 38,019

Total Non-Current Liabilities 224,075 38,019

Total Liabilities 626,939 368,602

Net Assets 2,519,224 2,455,709

Members' Funds

Industry Corporate Development 
Reserves 13 270,462 216,299

Project Reserve 12 159,200 200,593

Retained Surplus 2,089,562 2,038,817

Total Members' Fund 2,519,224 2,455,709
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Retained 
Earnings Reserves Total

Notes $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2020 2,038,817 416,892 2,455,709

Surplus/(Deficiency) for the Year 50,745 - 50,745

Movement In: Project Reserves 12 - (41,393) (41,393)

Movement In: Industry Corporate Development Reserves - 54,164 54,164

Balance at 30 June 2021 2,089,562 429,662 2,519,224

Retained 
Earnings Reserves Total

Notes $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2019 1,676,433 405,586 2,082,019

Surplus/(Deficiency) for the Year 362,384 - 362,384

Movement In: Project Reserves 12 - (67,857) (67,857)

Movement In: Industry Corporate Development Reserves - 79,163 79,163

Balance at 30 June 2020 2,038,817 416,892 2,455,709
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

2021 2020

Notes $ $

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:

Receipts From Customers 2,884,257 3,081,812

Payments to Suppliers and Employees (2,956,595) (2,807,576)

Project Surplus (792) 25,079

Net Cash Provided by/(Used in) Operating Activities 15 (73,130) 299,315

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:

Proceeds From Sale of Plant and Equipment 67,393 (67,393)

Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment 2,327 (17,291)

Net Cash Used by Investing Activities 69,720 (84,684)

Net Increase/(Decrease) In Cash and Cash Equivalents Held (3,410) 214,631

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 2,519,708 2,305,077

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Financial Year 7 2,516,298 2,519,708
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

The financial statements cover Western Australian Fishing Industry Council Inc. 
as an individual entity. Western Australian Fishing Industry Council Inc. is 
a not-for-profit Association incorporated in Western Australia under the 
Associations Incorporation Act (WA) 2015 (‘the Act’).

The functional and presentation currency of Western Australian Fishing Industry 
Council Inc is Australian dollars.

Comparatives are consistent with prior years, unless otherwise stated.

1 Basis of Preparation

In the opinion of the Board, the Association is not a reporting entity since 
there are unlikely to exist users of the financial report who are not able to 
command the preparation of reports tailored so as to satisfy specifically all 
of their information needs. These special purpose financial statements have 
been prepared to meet the reporting requirements of the Act.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
recognition and measurement requirements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards and Accounting Interpretations, and the disclosure requirements of 
AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, AASB 107 Statement of Cash 
Flows, AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 
Errors and AASB 1054 Australian Additional Disclosures.

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Income Tax

The association is exempt from income tax under Division 50 of the 
Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

(b) Revenue and Other Income

Revenue is recognised when the amount of the revenue can be measured 
reliably, it is probable that economic benefits associated with the 
transaction will flow to the Association and specific criteria relating to the 
type of revenue as noted below, has been satisfied.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable and is presented net of returns, discounts and rebates.

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).

Subscriptions

Revenue from the provision of membership subscriptions is recognised on 
a straight line basis over the financial year.

Other Income

Other income is recognised on an accruals basis when the Association is 
entitled to it.

(c) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, 
except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the 
Australian Tax Office. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as 
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the 
expense. Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position 
are shown inclusive of GST.

(d) Property, Plant and Equipment

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value 
less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation and impairment.

Items of property, plant and equipment acquired for nil or nominal 
consideration have been recorded at the acquisition date fair value.

Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, is depreciated on a straight line basis over 
the assets useful life to the Association, commencing when the asset is 
ready for use.
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(e) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash on hand, demand deposits and 
short term investments which are readily convertible to known amounts 
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

(f) Leases

At the lease commencement, the Association recognises a right-of-use 
asset and associated lease liability for the lease term. The lease term 
includes extension periods where the Association believes it is reasonably 
certain that the option will be exercised.

The right-of-use asset is measured using the cost model where cost 
on initial recognition comprises of the lease liability, initial direct costs, 
prepaid lease payments, estimated cost of removal and restoration less 
any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the lease term on a straight line 
basis and assessed for impairment in accordance with the impairment of 
assets accounting policy.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the remaining 
lease payments at the commencement of the lease. The discount rate is the 
rate implicit in the lease, however where this cannot be readily determined 
then the Association’s incremental borrowing rate is used.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. The lease liability 
is remeasured whether there is a lease modification, change in estimate 
of the lease term or index upon which the lease payments are based 
(e.g. CPI) or a change in the Association’s assessment of lease term.

Where the lease liability is remeasured, the right of use asset is adjusted 
to reflect the remeasurement or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying 
amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

(g) Employee Benefits

Provision is made for the Association’s liability for employee benefits 
arising from services rendered by employees to the end of the reporting 
period. Employee benefits that are expected to be wholly settled within 
one year have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when 
the liability is settled.

3 Projects (net)

2021 2020

$ $

– Project receipts 60,163 121,628

– Project payments (79,195) (75,144)

– Provisions for project expense – current 5,323 (41,586)

– Provisions for project expense – non-current 12,770 11,307

Total project surplus (939) 16,205

Project transactions have been grouped together and consolidated into total 
project Receipts and project payments. If members wish to have a copy of the 
individual project payments and receipts, they are available on request.

4 Excluded Projects

The association manages certain projects on behalf of other entities. These 
are considered external to the operations of WAFIC and all transactions and 
balances relating to these are excluded from the financial statements. 

The association is the custodian of $1,013,782 in relation to these projects.
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5 Other Operating Expenses Breakdown

2021 2020

$ $

Accounting 843 1,003

Advertising 4,070 1,273

Audit fees 10,240 13,650

Bank fees 1,391 1,241

Computer maintenance 18,938 21,239

Consultants 68,786 28,683

Fremantle office

– Cleaning 10,862 9,923

– Council rates 13,020 15,353

– Electricity 8,437 9,125

– Equipment 2,325 1,821

– Land tax 24,818 24,740

– Office operations 102,611 70,164

– Repairs & maintenance 705 1,814

– Water rates 2,958 2,035

Insurances 16,265 16,919

Legal expenses 9,373 38,669

Meeting 39,815 34,489

Memberships 7,607 11,979

Motor vehicles 6,996 4,526

Telephone, fax & internet 9,549 16,727

Traveling expenses 20,370 21,465

Total other operating expenses breakdown 379,979 346,838

6 Allocation to Sector Body Payments 

2021 2020

$ $

Abalone Industry Association of WA 10,228 11,020

Aquaculture Council of WA 100,000 100,000

Pearl Producers Association 54,031 57,813

Shark Bay Prawn Trawler Operators Association 41,967 49,260

Southern Seafood Producers (WA) Association 236,389 224,216

Western Rock Lobster Council 719,646 709,634

Total allocation to sector body payments 1,162,261 1,151,943

7 Cash and Cash Equivalents

2021 2020

$ $

Cash at bank and in hand 109,934 100,767

Cash reserve 154,438 243,904

Term deposits 2,251,926 2,175,037

Total cash and cash equivalents 2,516,298 2,519,708

8 Trade and Other Receivables

2021 2020

$ $

Current trade receivables 235,595 151,453

GST receivable 6,266 2,649

Reimbursement account 2 39

Total current trade and other receivables 241,863 154,141

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 202
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9 Right of Use Assets

2021 2020

$ $

First Floor, 56 Marine Terrace, Fremantle 318,089 - 

Total right of use assets 318,089 - 

The initial measurement of right of use assets is the present value of 
the lease payments over the lease term, discounted using an effective 
interest rate. Future lease payments will incur an expense comprising of 
depreciation reducing the right of use asset.

10 Plant and Equipment, Furniture & Motor Vehicles

2021 2020

$ $

Plant and Equipment

At cost 47,674 50,001

Accumulated depreciation (41,673) (37,895)

Total plant and equipment 6,001 12,106

Furniture, Fixtures and Fittings

At cost 203,879 203,879

Accumulated depreciation (153,877) (141,540)

Total furniture, fixtures and fittings 50,002 62,339

Motor Vehicles

At cost 31,520 98,913

Accumulated depreciation (27,911) (37,663)

Total motor vehicles 3,609 61,250

Total plant and equipment, furniture  
& motor vehicles 59,612 135,695

11 Lease Liabilities

2021 2020

$ $

Current

First Floor, 56 Marine Terrace, Fremantle 120,953 - 

Total current lease liabilities 120,953 - 

Non-Current

First Floor, 56 Marine Terrace, Fremantle 205,853 - 

Total non-current lease liabilities 205,853 - 

The initial measurement of lease liabilities are the future lease payments 
comprising of interest using an effective interest rate. Future lease payments 
reduce the liability whereas would previously be expensed in profit and loss.
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12 Project Reserve

2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 Total

$ $ $ $

Projects

ACWA (shellfish hatchery) 41,393 - - 41,393

BCS & Social Licence to 
Operate 34,000 34,000 34,000 102,000

Strategic and Education 
Program - 38,100 38,100 76,200

WA Seafood Awards 
Contribution 2,070 - 15,000 17,070

Total project reserve 77,463 72,100 87,100 236,663

The Finance Audit and Risk Management (FARM) Sub-committee identified 
the necessity to further improve the mechanics of the Financial Statements 
by providing an entry into the accounts that identifies Key Projects that have 
been approved by the board of WAFIC. 

The FARM Sub-committee agreed to allocate funds for Strategic and 
Education Projects to facilitate the organisation’s long term strategic planning 
and education development requirements. The long term provisioning has 
been raised through equity reserves. The funding of these and other current 
projects are able to be drawn from funds on deposit.

13 Industry Corporate Development Reserve

Originally donated by industry for industry campaigns.

14 Contingencies

In the opinion of the Board, the Association did not have any contingencies at 
30 June 2021.

15 Cash Flow Information

Reconciliation of result for the year to cashflows from operating activities

Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

2021 2020

$ $

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 59,462 362,384

Add back non-cash flows

Depreciation and amortisation expense 141,907 43,304

– Project liability movements (35,208) (67,857)

– Project reserve movements (41,393) (200,214)

– Lease liability movements (110,566) - 

– Net (gain)/loss on disposal of assets 53,348 67,393

Changes in assets and liabilities

– Change in accounts receivable (87,722) (29,157)

– Change in other current assets (4,466) 11,980

– Change in liabilities (48,672) 111,482

Cashflow from operations (73,310) 299,315

16 Events after the end of the Reporting Period

The financial report was authorised for issue on 18 October 2021 by the Board.

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year 
which significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the 
Association, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the 
Association in future financial years.
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17 Unexpended Project Funds

Unexpended project funds (funds in advance) at year end are capitalised in the 
assets and liabilities statement where the committee has determined that the 
unexpended amounts are committed to future expenditure. 

Prepaid project expenditure incurred prior to the receipt of project income is 
offset against any liability for unexpended project funds.

18 Board Meetings

Meetings held & attended

Meetings 
eligible to 

attend  
2020/21

Meetings 
attended 
2020/21

Meetings 
eligible to 

attend  
2019/20

Meetings 
attended 
2019/20

Adam Radford 9 8 8 8

Anthony Haygarth 9 9 12 10

Don Nicholls 9 8 12 12

Dr Ron Edwards - - 5 5

Felicity Horn 9 9 8 8

Gary Morgan 9 9 5 5

James Clement - - 5 5

John Hutton - - 4 4

Leonie Noble - - 5 5

Murray Criddle 9 9 5 5

Paul Catalano 9 8 5 5

Peter Cooke - - 5 5

Terry Mouchemore - - 4 4

Tony Westerberg 9 9 12 12

Wayne Scheggia 9 8 5 5

19 Association Details

The registered office of the Association is: 

Western Australian Fishing Industry Council Inc.  
PO Box 1605 
Fremantle WA 6959
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The Board has determined that the Association is not a reporting entity and that this special purpose financial report should be prepared in accordance with the 
accounting policies outlined in Note 2 to the financial statements.

In the opinion of the Board the financial report as set out on pages 68-70. 

1.  Presents fairly the financial position of Western Australian Fishing Industry Council Inc as at 30 June 2021 and its performance for the year ended on that date.

2.  At the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that Western Australian Fishing Industry Council Inc will be able to pay its debts as and when 
they fall due.

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the board and is signed for and on behalf of the Board by:

Western Australian Fishing Industry Council Chair

Finance, Audit and Risk Management Committee Chair

Dated this 18th day of October 2021

 

STATEMENT BY MEMBERS OF THE BOARD
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Report on the audit of the financial report

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial report, being a special purpose financial report of Western Australian Fishing Industry Council Inc (the Association), 
which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement 
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and management’s assertion 
statement.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Association for the year ended 30 June 2021 is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with 
Associations Incorporation Act (WA) 2015.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of the Association in accordance with the auditor independence 
requirements of the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Basis of Accounting

We draw attention to Note 1 of the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. The financial report is prepared to assist the Association to fulfil their 
financial reporting responsibilities under the Associations Act. As a result, the financial report may not be suitable for another purpose. Our report is intended solely 
for the Association and should not be distributed to or used by parties other than the Association. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note 10 of the financial report, which illustrates the addition of the provision for future projects. The allocated funds are for Strategic and 
Education Projects to facilitate the organisation’s long term strategic planning and education development requirements, approved by the Financial Audit Risk 
Management Sub Committee. The provision raised in reserves hasn’t been included as part of our audit testing, and our opinion is not modified in respect of 
this matter.

INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with Associations Incorporation Act (WA) 2015, and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.

In preparing the financial report, management is responsible for assessing the Association’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Association or to cease operations, or has 
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Association’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. 
We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Association’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Association’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that 
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial reporter, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Association to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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We communicate with the management regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the management with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them 
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the management, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial report of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Daniel Papaphotis 
Registered Company Auditor 
# - 410503 
Francis A Jones Pty Ltd  
Fremantle WA 6160

Dated: 20 October 2021
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L1, 56 Marine Tce. Fremantle WA 6160
PO Box 1605. Fremantle WA 6959

T (08) 9432 7777 | F (08) 9432 7700
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